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ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE: BURDENS AND
PROBLEMS FOR VICTIMS AND THEIR FAMILIES

MONDAY, OCTOBER 28, 1985

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
SELECT COMMITTEE ON AGING,

Elizabeth, NJ.
The committee met, pursuant to notice, at 9:30 a.m., in the Eliza-

beth City Council Chambers, Elizabeth, NJ, Hon. Matthew J. Rin-
aldo (acting chairman of the committee) presiding.

Members present: Representatives Rinaldo, Courter, and Saxton.

OPENING STATEMENT OF REPRESENTATIVE MATTHEW J.
RINALDO

Mr. RINALDO. Good morning. This hearing has been convened at
my request to examine one of the most serious problems facing
senior citizens today in our country, Alzheimer's disease. Before we
begin, I want to thank two of my colleagues who are members of
the Aging Committee for being with us this morning: Congressman
Jim Saxton of the 13th District, and Congressman Jim Courter of
the neighboring 12th District. I think their presence here shows
their commitment to this crucial problem in American health care.

As the ranking minority member of the Aging Committee, I spe-
cifically reauested this hearing today to bring attention to Alzhei-
mer's disease. Alzheimer's disease has a devastating impact, not
only on its victims, but on their relatives and loved ones. And the
tragedy is, the United States still has not made the kind of commit-
ment it must if we expect to overcome this disease. We do not
know the cause. We cannot even be sure of the diagnosis. And we
have no long-term health care policy or services to provide for the
care of Alzheimer's patients.

Yet, Alzheimer's disease has an enormous impact on senior citi-
zens, and on our health care system. Alzheimer's affects at least
21/2 million persons in the United States, between 10 percent and
15 percent of the population over 60. Second, this illness is the
leading cause of institutionalization among the elderly in America.
It is responsible for as many as 650,000 people over 65 in nursing
homes.

As revealing as these numbers are, the United States still has no
viable long-term health care policy or method of repayment for the
care of Alzheimer's patients.

I constantly receive letters from my constituents telling me of
the personal hardship involved in carrig for Alzheimer's patients.
We need to review the overall strategy on how to win the war

(1)
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against this disease. We need to increase research funding to dis-
cover its cause, how to diagnose it, and most important, how to
treat the disease. Right now, we are fighting in the dark.

Obviously we do not have the resources in the budget to drasti-
cally increase spending for Alzheimer's care and research immedi-
ately Last year the Federal Government spent $56 million on Alz-
heimer's programs, compared to more than $1 billion for cancer re-
search. I currently have legislation pending on the House floor that
would provide money to States to increase their Alzheimer's pro-grams We need to employ the same weapons against Alzheimer's
disease as we have against cancer and heart disease.

I know of the heartfelt devotion all our witnesses have to com-
bating this deadly enemy. Susan Fell of the Alzheimer's Disease
Fund of New Jersey is with us today, and is actively raising money
to help fund much-needed respite care service such as the Adult
Day Care Center at Memorial General Hospital in Union, and the
COPSA Day Hospital in New Brunswick.

Lonnie Wollin is one of the founding members of the Alzheimer's
Disease and Related Disorders Association and is in the battle zonehelping families cope with a loved one who falls victim to this dis-
ease. Doctors Davis and Fe ldberg are diligently striving to find the
cause, and ultimately the cure, for this medical nightmare.

I feel it is time for Congress to bring this issue to the forefront of
our agenda. This hearing is just one of a series of hearings the
Aging Committee has held on this issue, but we all must take a
more active stand against this deadly disease, the Nation's fourthlargest killer.

I would like to call on my colleagues for any opening statements
they have. Congressman Courter?

STATEMENT OF REPRESENTATIVE JIM COURTER
Mr. Comma. Thank you. I would like to thank Congressman

Rinaldo for holding the hearing. He is the ranking minority Repub-
lican member of the Select Committee on Aging and has demon-
strated a leadership in his compassion and concern for the ills that
affect the elderly population of senior citizens in our country.

This is one of many hearings he has held over the course of the
years, studying Alzheimer's disease and studying those concerns ofthe disease that affect senior citizens.

I would like to thank the very impressive array of panelists this
morning. As Congressman Rinaldo indicated, it ia a disease that af-
fects a growing number of senior citizens, with the estimate vary-ing from 7 to 10 percent of those about 65, going up to 20 to 25
percent of those that are 80 years of age.

The social and economic implications of the disease are a greatdeal of pain, and we have seen films depicting that pain, together
with a great deal of suffering and disability, a tremendous amount
of human and economic resources being devoted to the care and
treatment of this type of disease.

The social costs of the personal catastrophe that is brought to the
families of victims cannot be properly measured by anybody.
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The economic cost of the disease has to some extent been as-
sessed, and the numbers are dramatically significant and seem to
be growing.

Congressman Rinaldo indicated we spend so little of our Nation's
resources on this growing problem, and hearings like this allow the
Nation's policymakers to focus their attention on the requirement
of spending more resources on this type of problem.

I think the hearing today is particularly appropriate because No-
vember is National Alzheimer's Disease Awareness Month. It is my
understanding that Governor Kean is planning a statewide confer-
ence on this topic, later on in November, and we welcome the at-
tention that this particular disease is getting in the State of New
Jersey as a whole.

Within the next 50 years, our senior citizen population is going
to increase dramatically, with 20 percent of the population in the
next 50 years being 54 years of age or older.

Too many of these people will have AD unless we find a curs and
unless we fmd a treatment.

I can go on, but I don't think it is necessary. I think the impor-
tant part of the hearing is to listen to witnesses.

I want to thank the witnesses for coming today and for the sup-
port of the people here today, I wish to congratulate the press for
coming, because heightened awareness of this problem is very im-
portant.

Again, I want to thank Congressman Rinaldo for his leadership
in this area. Thank you.

Mr. RINALno. Thank you very much for coming. We appreciate
the time that you and Congressman Saxton have taken to come
here today.

Congressman Saxton, do you have any opening statement?

STATEMENT OF REPRESENTATIVE JIM SAXTON
Mr. SAXTON. Thank you. It is a pleasure to be here today. I want

to say that I think it is particularly important we do this. As I was
saying to Dr. Goldstein, we as Members of Congress deal with such
a wide array of issues, that hearings like this give us an opportuni-
ty to understand in depth the real importance of what happens to
those individuals who are afflicted by this disease and the families
as well.

You might say that through the committee, I have learned a
great deal about the disease. I have learned that financial costs of
AD are staggering and the emotional toll is wrenching.

Alzheimer's disease is a progressive, irreversible neurological dis-
order characterized by a deterioration of cognitive functions such
as memory, attention and judgment. The disease begins with
simple forgetfulness followed by gradually noticable and then
severe changes in memory and personality. The disease can run its
course in a few years or may last as long as 15 years. Eventually
the Alzheimer victim cannot care for himself, and life expectancy
is usually reduced, by as much as 50 percent Diagnosed first in
1906, by Alois Alzheimer, the cause of Alzheimer's disease is un-
known at the present time.
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It is the le L. ling cause of institutionalization of the elderly; it ac-
counts for as many as 50 percent of elderly in long-term health
care settings. Total elderly institutionalized is 1.3 million.

It accounts for an estimated 50 to 75 percent of dementia in the
elderly with the remaining fraction of dementia caused by arterio-
sclerosis, stroke-related diseases, and a score of treatable causes of
dementia.

The estimates are that between 10 percent and 15 percent of the
U.S. population over 60 have Alzheimer's disease.

It is responsible for 120,000 deaths in the United States annually,
ranked as the Nation's fnurth leading killer, behind heart disease,
cancer and strokes.

And the risk increases with age. It strikes 5 to 7 percent of those
over 65, but increases to 20 percent of those in their eighties.

The cost of treatment and long-term health care is estimategi at
$25 to $30 billion annually, $12 billion of which comes from Feder-
al sourcesMedicaid, $10.4 billion; Medicare, $0.4 billion; VA, $1.1
billion, et cetera.

By 1990, estimates are that costs to institutionalize and care for
sufferers of Alzheimer's disease will reach $43 billion at the Feder-
al level; by the year 2000, estimated 3 to 4 million Americans, 1 out
of every 20 adults over 65 will be a victim.

The costs to the Government as well as individuals will increase
with the graying of America. According to the Census Bureau, the
nu. ber of Americans over the age of 65 doubled from 1950 to 1980,
and is expected to double again by the year 2030, making 20 per-
cent of the population 54 or older.

This frightening dis,...ase must remain a top national priority.
Finally, I would like to share with the committee the words of

Dr. Michael Shanahansky of the New York College of Medicine. I
read these words while studying Alzheimer's and I feel they strike
the heart of the issue. He said, the failure to view aging of the
brain as a pathological process, a disease, will turn victories in our
crusades against cancer Fir I heart disease into hollow shells and
the fruits of such victol es will be bitter ones, as we watch the
wards of our hospitals filled with older people with strong bodies,
but diminished minds.

Compassion must be shown for the victims and their families.
Thank you. I look forward to the testimony of the witnesses this

morning.
MT. RINALDO. Thank you.
I would like to call on Mayor Dunn to welcome our guests here

today, and before the mayor speaks, I want to take the opportunity
to thank the mayor and the Elizabeth City Council for the use of
their chambers and the mayor's staff for their help with this hear-
ing.

Mayor Dunn has always been very helpful to this committee.
Whenever our committee has had a meeting in the city of Eliza-
beth, he has made the chamber available.

We appreciate his hospitality, cordiality and the use of the city
chambers for the hearing.
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STATEMENT OF THE HON. TOM DUNN, MAYOR, ELIZABETH, NJ

Mayor DtmiN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and other distinguished
Members of the Congress, Dr. Goldstein, Commissioner Goldstein,
and my fellow citizens. This is a great way for me to start my week
off, by welcoming each and every one of you to the city of Eliza-
beth, to the city council chambers, to participate in this most im-
portant business.

I warmly extend that welcome to each and every one of you, and
we are indeed honored that this committee would single out the
city of Elizabeth for the site of such an important meeting.

I would like to say that about 4 to 5 years ago, I had a lady call
me up as I was hosting a radio show, who asked me to solicit funds
over the air for the Alzheimer's Disease Foundation. Truthfully, I
did not even know how to pronounce the word at the time. She
made a reference to Rita Hayworth being a victim of it.

She sent me some literature. I found, to my dismay, that not
only was I ignorant of Alzheimer's disease, but I found that many
listeners to the radio program that I hosted each week were igno-
rant of it.

In a period of about 4 or 5 years, there is a new awarenesss to
the terribleness of Alzheimer's disease.

It is gratifying to know that the Congress is showing greater con-
cern for finding a cure and treatment of the disease than ever
before.

You know, if you will allow me, gentlemen, to give an editorial
opinion, from where I sit as mayor, and that is as an active politi-
cal person, there is a concern in this country today, but I can only
speak of my own jurisdiction, but that perhaps we are showing too
much concern for a subject that is uppermost in our minds today,
that of the victims of A MS. While everybody has a compassion and
a concern for those who are afflicted with AIDS, we have a fear
that perhaps more attention will be shown to fighting that disease,
say, than to some of the diseases that have been mentioned here
before, cancer, heart disease, et cetera.

I had a concern or have a concern, too. I know the political pic-
ture. I know that those who scream the loudest, who get the atten-
tion of the press and media, seem to get more interest from our leg-
islative bodies and from our political leaders.

We all know that cancer is a terrifying disease; we know that
AIDS is a terrifying disease.

There should be a list of priorities as to where our Federal tax
dollars should go. This priority list is an absolute must as far as I
am concerned to make sure we spend our money in the right
places.

I have a personal interest in worrying about our young children
who suffer from leukemia and other forms of cancer. We want to
make sure whatever moneys are available should be helping kids
to grow and to survive as many of us have done.

Those of us in our sixties realize how fortunate we are compared
to others that we lived with, associated with, in our long lifetimes.

We have a genuine interest in young people. We have a genuine
interest in a very practical matter, making sure that the money is
spent for the right purposes.
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I can think of no more worthwhile purpose than spending the
money to fmd a resolution to the terrifying Alzheimer's disease, as
I heard described on telephone, the disease which has killed two
people, not only a victim, but a person who must take care of that
victim.

I welcome you. We are happy to have you. We are honored that
you are here. We know that this is going to be a very, very produc-
tive meeting.

Again, thank you so much for singling out the city of Elizabeth
for the site of such an important meeting. Thank you.

Mr. RINALDO. Thank you very much, Mayor.
We will begin with our first witness. I would like to ask all of the

witnesses, if they would, when you are called on to testify, please
limit your comments to 5 minutes.

You can submit the entire statement for the record. It will be in-
cluded.

I would ask you to step up to a podium, so that everybody can
hear the testimony.

Our first witness will be Dr. Goldstein.
Dr. Goldstein.

STATEMENT OF J. RICHARD GOLDSTEIN, M.D., NEW JERSEY
STATE COMMISSIONER OF HEALTH

Dr. GOLDSTEIN. I appreciate this opportunity to inform your com-
mittee of the efforts we have undertaken in New Jersey to address
this devastating disease.

Alzheimer's disease is a slowly progressive disease which may
last anywhere between 2 and 20 years. There is no cure for the dis-
ease nor any specific treatment. This neurological disorder causes a
gradual deterioration of the brain resulting in the victim's failure
to communicate, ambulate, and control bodily functions and ulti-
mately causes death.

Nationwide, it is estimated that as many as four million Ameri-
cans have Alzheimer's disease or a related disorder. We estimate
that approximately 230,000 residents of New Jersey suffer from
cognitive impairment. Studies based on small samples indicate that
10 to 20 percent of the elderly with symptoms of dementia have re-
versible conditions. As many as 100 reversible conditions can
present symptoms similar to dementia; depression, head injury,
high fever, poor nutrition, adverse drug reaction, et cetera. Alzhei-
mer's disease and multi-infarct dementia account for approximate-
ly 80 percent of the irreversible dementias. Other causes of irre-
versible dementia include Pick's disease, Huntington's disease, Par-
kinson's disease, Creutzfeldt-Jakob Disease, et cetera.

The role of caring for a victim of Alzheimer's disease at home is
demanding and has been likened to a "36-hour day." One caregiver
in New Jersey explained her exasperation in caring for a loved one
as a malfunctioning mind enclosed in a functioning body. Despite
careful explanations and simple directions, many victims of Alzhei-
mer's disease are unable to carry out simple commands. Someone
must constantly monitor the Alzheimer's victim's activity. That
someone is the caregiver, who is usually a family member since

1 0
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most persons with Alzheimer's disease are cared for by their fami-
lies at home.

Prevention of accidents affecting the victim and the immediate
environment are of constant concern for the caregiver. The Alzhei-
mer's victim may remember how to boil water, but forget to turn
off the stove. The victim may wander outside and forget how to get
home, become injured by falling down familiar stairsteps or walk
in front of a movmg car. Protecting a person from harming himself
or others requires 1-on-1 care. The constant monitoring does not
leave much personal time for the caregiver; this in turn leads to an
increase in the level of stress for the caregiver.

Another stressful situation occurs as a result of financial bur-
dens of Alzheimer's disease. The cost of care increases as the dis-
ease progresses. In the later stages, custodial services such as bath-
ing, dressing and feeding are needed and are not covered by medi-
cal health insurance. Consequently, if the caregiver must continue
to work, a paid helper must be hired and be paid by the victim or
by the caregiver. Other noncovered expenses include respite care,
day care services and medical-surgical supplies such as inconti-
nence pads diapers.

Recogniz.,-. the devastating impact Alzheimer's disease has on
the victim and family, legislation was sied by Gov. Thomas Kean
on September 29, 1983, creating the Alzheimer's Disease Study
Commission. The commission, of which I am chairman, first met in
July 1984. It was charged with the duties of evaluating the extent
and severity of the incidence of the disease in New Jersey, the
needs of the victims and their familes, and the availability and af-
fordability of long-term care, home care or other alternatives to in-
stitutionalization. The Commission is also responsible for gathering
and disseminating information about the care and treatment of
persons with the disease to make health care professionals and
members of government more aware and better informed about
Alzheimer's disease. Findings of the commission will be reported to
the Governor and the legislature, along with any legislative bills
the commission fmds appropriate in addressing the serious medical
and social problems presented by this disease.

One of the first actions of the commission was to convene a series
of three public hearings to which professionals and family care-
givers were invited.

Obtaining an early diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease was identi-
fied as a major problem encountered by victims and their families.
A diagnostic tool specific for Alzheimer's disease does not currently
exist. Therefore, physicians treating clients with a suspected de-
mentia work by a process of elimination. Many reversible condi-
tions can mimic Alzheimer's disease and the ramifications of misla-
beling a client can be catastrophic for all those involved.

Family caregivers and professionals alike expressed the need for
a more informed medical community. Physicians responsible for
providing a diagnosis should have knowledge of and access to those
having the expertise and equipment necessary to adequately assess
those individuals presenting the symptoms congruent with demen-
tia.

At the time of the hearings, New Jersey did not have a diagnos-
tic center designed to meet the needs of those affected by Alzhei-
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mer's disease. Family members reported traveling to Philadelphia,
New York and Maryland in order to obtain a comprehensive diag-
nostic evaluation. It was recommended that the creation of one or
more diagnostic centers in New Jersey would facilitate an earlier
and more accurate diagnosis. Early diagnosis is essential to the ef-
fective and efficient long-range planning required by those affected
by this disease. In addition, these diagnostic centers have the po-
tential to provide a secondary gain of being established trainingsites for health care professionals, as well as correctly diagnose
those that have treatable disorders.

Despite the burdens of caregiving the desire to keep the Alzhei-
mer's disease victim at home for as long as possible was well af-
firmed by many providing testimony. Successful home care, howev-
er, can be draining and requires community resources which assist
and support the primary care providers.

Unfortunately, many family caregiyers and professionals are un-
familiar with the mechanism of receiving information about avail-
able commlnity resource& Individuals are all too often passed from
one potential information source to another without obtaining an-
swers and/or help in identifying specific local resources.

Several viable suggestions were proposed by those providing tes-
timony to help bridge this informational gap. Many participants
thought that a statewide clearinghouse for information and refer-
ral would be beneficial. Likewise, improved dissemination of infor-
mation pertinent to Alzheimer's disease and better utilization of
the existent network serving the older population in New Jersey
'were suggested as perhaps the "best poisible" resource for a stand-
ardized information and referral system.

A plea for improved availability of community-based services was
also expressed by those testifying. The need for day care programs
designed for Alzheimer's disease victims and other forms of in-
home and/or institutional respite care for family care provideis
was clearly identified as a desirable community service. Most day
care centers operate Monday through Friday between the hours of9 a.m. to 4 p.m. Family care providers expressed the hope that new
programs be developed to meet the needs of those care .providers
who must work. Effective day care has the potential to reap multi-
ple benefits such as improved functional level, self-esteem and dig-nity for the victims and provide a period of rest or reprieve for
stressed family caregivers.

Family carepvers were adamant about the need for improved
education of both professional and nonprofessional individuals
caring for victims of Alzheimer's disease. Physicians, nurses, social
workers, therapists, clergy, homemaker-home health aides, andfamily care providers were specifically identified as priorities for
improved education.

Physicians, it was reported, often lack knowledge about the dis-
ease, appropriate diagnostic workup, and the availability of com-
munity resources which play be of benefit to the client and/or the
family.

Medical and nursing personnel in acute care hospitals and long-term care institutions, on numerous occasions, readily acknowl-
edged to family members their lack of knowledge about Alzhei-mer's disease.

12
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Likewise, during the home stage of cars, which is desired by
most for as long as fusible, nursing, and home health aides admit-
tedly lacked training concerning specific interventions for the Alz-
heimer disuse victim.

It was recommended that specific training related to the needs
and health problems of the older adult should be mandated by the
department of higher education and/or various disciplines. Fur-
thermore, specific training about Alzheimer's disease should be re-
quired for tm presently involved in the cars of geriatric clients
via continuing education programs throughout the health care
system.

mony, both family vers and professionals alike, was the fi-
nancial strains which A imer's disease all too often inflicts on

A problem identificeat every individual providing testi-

its victims and their families. The long-term effects of a chronic ill-
ness such as Alzheimer's disease requires, most often, support in
terms of custodial care, social services, counseling, and support and
respite for family care imoviders. Subsidized funding for the chron-
ically ill individual who requires these services but does not re-
quire "skilled care" is currently non-existent for a large portion of
the U.S. population.

Only those who are extremely wealthy or qualify for Medicaid
can afford the necessary care to maintain the client at home or in
an institutionthat is, the 15,000 to 40,000 or more dollars per
year needed to care for the Alzheimer's disease victim who, once
diagnosed or exhibiting behavioral symptoms, generally has a life
expectancy up to 10 years or greater.

One alternative is to apply for municipal welfare, an action pro-
viding additional trauma for many individuals and in the end fi-
nanclal aid still may be infeasible.

Professionals from long-term care institutions, home health agen-
cies, and day care facilifies shared the financial concern of family
care providers. While their goal is to provide quality high level
care, reimbursement constraints for "nonskilled" care makes ad-
mission of Alzheimer's victims a financially draining situation. One
speaker recommended that it was time for the "arbitrary and re-
strictive" interpretation of the terminology "skilled" versus "custo-
dial" care to be reassessed; current definitions of these terms and
current

ipolicy

disqualifies Alzheimer's victims from benefits from
most private nsurance plans and Medicare. Even Medicaid reim-
bursement is based on the level of "skill" required to care for the
individual. Hence, those apncies accepting clients receiving Medic-
aid are reimbursed for the lower rate of "nonskilled" care despite
the reality that specialized skill is required to care for the individ-
ual with Alzheimer's disease and his/her family

Finally, a desirable institution to provide for the multi-
ple and needs of the Alzheimer victims has been identi-
fied as a time consuming and frustrating process by many. Fami-
lies are confronted with long waiting lists, institutions who have
only a limited number of beds for confused individuals, and all too
often, nursing homes who refuse to accept patients with dementia.
Even if one finds a home which will accept an Alzheimer's disease
victim, many institutions will not accept Medicaid clients. It was

13



10

reported that some nursing homes in New Jersey will refuse to
keep a client who has exhausted all of his/her private pay funds.

Support was also requested for the development of special units
or programs designed to meet the specific needs of the Alzheimer's
disease victims within existing nursing homes. oeveral programs
currently exist in New Jersey long-term care institutions and may
eventually serve as role models toward quality care.

As a result of the poignant testimony at these hearings, the com-
mission adopted several recommendations:

One. The State of New Jersey should support the establishment
of a statewide resource directory for family caregivers and health
and human service providers.

Two. The State of New Jersey should develop an Alzheimer's dis-
ease and related disorder resource center which will link Alzhei-
mer's victims and their families with appropriate programs and
services to meet their complexity of needs.

Three. The State of New Jersey should support the establish-
ment of a diagnostic center for the cognitively impaired.

Four. The State of New Jersey should provide support for the ex-
pansion of adult day care programs and should proviee for and co-
ordinate the utilization of existing services for both in-home and
out-of.home respite care in order to furnish relief and support to
family and other unpaid care providers of those afflicted with Alz-
heimer's disease or a related disorder.

Five. The State department of health in collat.oration with the
various health-related professional associations, the departments of
community affairs and human services, and the Alzheimer's dis-
ease support network should develop and implement seminars and/
or workshops on issues relevant to Alzheimer's disease and related
disorders.

Six. The department of insurance should determine the feasibili-
ty of developing a long-term insurance package for persons with
Alzheimer's disease.

Although the work of the commission has not concluded, the de-
partment of health has begun to implement these recommenda-
tions.

The department of health and the division on aging were success-
ful in obtaining a grant from the Brookdale Foundation. These
moneys will be used to fund the Governor's conference on Alzhei-
mer's disease and related disorders which is scheduled for Novem-
ber 19, 1985, at the Hyatt Regency in Princeton. The gerontology
program of the department and the division on aging are currently
developing a resource directory which will be distributed at the
conference.

The department of health will be awarding a contract of 8500,000
to the University of Medicine and Dentistry, Rutgers Medical
School CMHC to develop the Institute for Alzheimer's Disease and
Related Disorders. The institute will include an Alzheimer's dis-
ease resource center as well as a diagnostic center. The resource
center will have the responsibility to act as an information and re-
ferral clearinghouse, maintain a toll-free hotline, develop special-
ized educational materials, and provide technical assistance to sup-
port groups for caregivers of persons with Alzheimer's disease.
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In addition, the institute will operate a diagnostic center for the
cognitively impaired. This center will be available to all reFikients
of the state and will offer e multidisciplinary approach to assess-
ment. We believe it will facilitate effective and efficient long-range
planning for the victim and family affected by Alzheimer's disease
or a related dementia.

The department recently offered a conference on home manage-
ment of the person with dementia. This conference was attended
by approximately 200 persons. Additional training seminars for
professionals will be offered this year by my department and the
division on aging. While we can begin to address the training needs
of health and aging professionals and family caregivers, adequate
funds are not available to accomplish this goal in the most appro-
priate manner.

Legislation has been introduced in the assembly, A-3194, which
would appropriate to the department $1 million for the purchase of
adult day care services for Individuals with dementia. We support
this legislation and believe that day care may promote a better
quality of life for the victim by maintaining an optimal level of
functioning for a longer period of time.

We are proud of what we have accomplished in such a short
period of time. We will continue our efforts to build a continuum of
care for the victim and caregiver that is humane, affordable, and
attainable.

In conclusion, I would like to share with you the experience one
member of the commission had in obtaining an accurate diagnosis.
After months of going from clinic to doctor, her husband was diag-
nosed as having Alzheimer's disease. She was told, "Just take him
home and love him." She thought that meant that he would recov-
er. She later found out that the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease is
a death sentence. Not a quick death sentence, but a slow, drawn-
out ordeal for the victim, the spouse and for family and friends. It
is our responsibility as public officials to see that other caregivers
do not encounter this experience.

Thank you.
Mr. RINALDO. Mr. Phillipson.

STATEMENT OF HARRY PHILLIPSON, MAPLEWOOD, NJ
Mr. PHILLIPSON. I am Harry Phillipson, residing alone with my

wife, Anna, at 50 Burroughs Way, in Maplewood, NJ. We have
been married to each other for 60 years. I am a retired lawyer,
having practiced in Newark for 50 years. I am 80; my wife, 81.

I shall present before this forum first my personal situation and
needs, and then suggestions for consideration by this committee in
aid of all Alzheimer victims and their families.

We have two children, a son and a daughter. My son is a profes-
sor of physics at University of Colorado at Boulder where he lives
with his wife and children. My daughter, a teacher, resides with
her husband in Fanwood, NJ, and is busy with their two children
and grandchildren.

Anna, my wife, was an intelligent, articulate, and capable
person, devoted to her home. She was a loving wife and mother and
fully enjoyed our previous happy life together. A schoolteacher of
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excellence, she was a knowledgeable musician, especially skilled at
the piano. Fortunately my personal health is good, notwithstanding
my age.

Seven years ago Anna began to show signs of serious forgetful-
ness and unusual behavior. There were times even then when she
did not know who I was, nor would she remember her own children
and grandchildren. Her condition mentally became progressively
worse, and she now exhibits all the symptoms of Alzheimer's dis-
ease. Besiths not remembering members of her family, such as her
four sisters and brother, she continues to wonder who I am, and
has no recollection of our marriage in 1925, the happy times and
experiences we shared over the years, the birth of our children and
our rearing them to adulthood. She must be washed and dressed by
me. When handed a toothbrush, she holds it and does not know
what to do with it. When asked to put a knife and fork opposite
each plate, she is confused and unable to perform. She does not
know how to switch on a light. She is confused, does not know how
to walk into the respective rooms in the house and I must lead her
constantly. When, for example, she is called to the breakfast room
for lunch or dinner, her response is usually, "Where is the break-
fast room?"

While she has glaucoma and 20-50 vision, she is unable and re-
fuses to attempt to read and is disinterested in television and
unable to follow a program. While not yet incontinent, she must be
led to the bathroom and told each time what to do. She forgets all
matters almost immediately. She is unable to perform any cooking
or household chores. Though she eats fairly well, she must be
helped and guided in using the proper cutlery.- No medication is
permissible for she is allergic or sensitive to sedatives such as Dal-
mane, Valium, Librium, et cetera, which quickly bring on unusual
hallucinations. Except for osteoarthritis, which gives her discom-
fort, her health is generally good. But her walking is difficult, slow
and faltering. While using a cane, she relies on the added support
of the various furniture, or I must hold her hand. She no longer
can comprehend numbers, days, dates, or time. She cannot read a
clock. She cannot make a choice, she requires direction and deci-
sions of others.

Though she still loves to listen to music, no longer can she play
the piano at which she was unusually skilled. She follows the
music on the radio or recording, at times sings to herself and often
chants childrer 's songs. When she attempts to write, the words are
unintelligible, she can sign her name, only with great difficulty.
She has problems with her speech and mostly is unable to identify
a person or a thing or to express her feelings and thoughts. When
left to herself, she will at times put on wrong clothes, such as a
nightgown over her dress, and so on. She talks constantly and in-
cessantly, coining words that are unintelligible. She talks to objects
in the room as persons. She will make a statement and treat it as
though coming from another person, and then argue vociferously
against the statement as though the imaginary person was wrong.
She exhibits periods of frustration. At times she laughs and cries
and at times she is obstreporous and stubborn, difficult and exas-
perating.
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All sorts of neurological tests, including CAT scans, have been
made. One eminent neurologist and neurosurgeon connected with
the Mount Sinai Medical Center suggested a head operation to
create a "shunt" which he felt reasonably sure would help. But a
second opinion, from an equally eminent neurologist and neurosur-
geon at the University of 'Medicine and Dentistry in Newark, was
to the contrary. No operation was undertaken.

I am the sole caretaker, arising daily at 4 a.m. I do all house
chores, cleaning, washing, shopping, and cooking. My son in Boul-
der can give me only spiritual support, but my daughter helps
when she can find time away from her own home responsibilities
and teaching; she is however, in daily touch with me and is most
cooperative and helpful.

What are the needs of patients and their families?
One. It goes without much proof that in-home care is preferable

to institutionalization. I have employed women to aid me at home;
but all were useless to take care of an Alzheimer patient, for none
had the special training and skill required. It is a difficult and
trying field, but this special training should be given in schools
that train persons to serve as nurses aids, so that a pool of these
trained people would be available upon which to draw for help.

Two. Steps should be taken, if possible, to provide for Medicare
and Blue S'hield reimbursement for expenditures incurred by Alz-
heimer patients for their medical treatment; but medical treatment
should mclude the broad medical care and expense necessary for
the Alzheimer patient, whatever his or her needs have become. At
present only patients under Medicaid are provided for to some
extent. For Alzheimer patients, Medicare should give the same ben-
efits as others have under Medicaid, because Alzheimer patirnts
have become now a so-called special unfortunate class req, Ing
special public help.

Three. For my wife, I shall do everything in my power to avoid
institutionalization, first because at-home care is better for the pa-
tient, and then because I must also consider the monumental costs
for institutionalization which could run, I am told, between $40,000
to $50,000 a year, assuming that a nursing home could be found
willing to take on an Alzheimer patient. Few middle income fami-
lies are in a position to withstand such expenditures. Only low-
income families are given help under Medicaid. Each person from
the day of birth is a possible candidate for partial or total institu-
tionalization. Each of us is subject to this catastrophic consequence.
Yet at present there is no adequate insurance available for this
contingency.

Statisticians with reasonable certainty should be able to prechct
the probabilities, at birth and at various ages, for the necessity of
institutional care for a person, and to compute the probable cost.
The statistical approach is relied on by insurance companies for
health and all other types of insurance; and there is no reason why
such additional protective insurance should not be made available
to defray the costs, wholly or in part, of institutionalization, be it
necessary for physical ailments, mental diseases, or other condi-
tions which require such measures, subject to adequate reasonable
controls where admissions may be made only upon proper certifica-
tion by one or more physicians or psychiatrists.
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I respectfully urge this committee to confer with members of the
insurance industry and other officials with a view towards estab-
lishing the availability of such catastrophe insurance at premiums
that would be fair to the public and yet profitable to the insurance
carrier.

Four. With the present national debt being what it is, there is
little hcpe in the near future for national health insurance, but
some day it may be possible, at which time measures should be pro-
vided for the care of the sick, infirm, and mentally impaired.

Five. The immediate needs of Alzheimer patients and their fami-
lies call out for a viable community service as an alternative to in-
stitutions. This should be funded by the State and Federal Govern-
ments and should provide for full and part-time at-home care for
Alzheimer and other mental patients. Part of the costs for the serv-
ice could be paid for by the patient's family, but such contributing
costs should be fair and modest. Such service organizations should
be established in each community. I think such community service,
if properly functioning, would be the choice of most Alzheimer's
families. Treating mental health in tients at home is cheaper for
the government than warehousing.

Six. Day care centers in each community should be established
with skill to handle Alzheimer and other mental patients during
the day, where families may bring the patient with assurances of
proper care. I have in mind centers such as has been operating at
the COPSA Day Hospital in New Brunswick, which I personally
visited. The patient is exercised, stimulated mentally and emotion-
ally within the limits of his capacity, fed and entertained, and
cared for under established effective daily programs.

I must commend Mild. ed Potenza and others there for the excel-
lent and effective service they are rendering. Many more such day
care centers should be established and become functioning. While
these day care centers are of no help to me, they nevertheless
afford many families at least some respite during the day from
their many responsibilities toward the Alzheimer patient under
their care. To the extent such day care centers require funding, the
State should help.

Seven. Last, I think that the support groups which meet in some
communities are of help to caregivers affording an outlet for vent-
ing frustrations and giving up-to-date information on the problems.
The support group I attend is under the charge of Maryanne
Benson who has been kind and supportive. She is devoted, coopera-
tive, and efficient. I have only wordE of praise for her. I thank each
and every committee member for their interest and service to this
cause, and I thank each of them for the opportunity afforded me to
relate my Alzheimer problems and express my views.

Thank you.
Mr. RINALDO. Mr. Wollin.

STATEMENT OF LONNIE A. WOLLIN, DIRECTOR, ALZHEIMER'S
DISEASE AND RELATED DISORDERS ASSOCIATION

Mr. WOLLIN. I would like to thank you, Congressman, as well as
Congressmen Saxton and Courter, for inviting me here to speak as
well as holding this hearing.
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As the Congressman indicated, I founded the New York City
chapter in 1977, Alzheimer's Disease and Related Disorders, and
along with six other individuals fotaided National ADRDA. And I
am still an officer and director. ADRDA presently has 125 chapters
nationwide and 809-plus affiliates and support groups throughout
the country. It is truly a grassroots movement. It has been spread-
ing like wildfire. In 1980, our budget was $98,000. This year we
expect in excess of $5 million. It has doubled every year since in-
ception. Recently, we formed a New Jersey Chapter of ADRDA,
which will be headed by Mrs. Eleanor Ebner.

My history in Alzheimer's is a long one. My father, three of his
brothers and two of his sisters have had the disease. Two are still
alive. I have a horror story in just about every category that you
can think of. I am standing here as an Alzheimer's time bomb, and
there are many theories of what causes this disease, one of which is
genetic. Clearly, if that is the case, I am a product of that, sitting
with a 50-percent chance. I stand here with a sword of Damocles
above my head. I am earning, contributing to society, and I pay
taxes. If the sword falls, all of that changes. My resources will be
drained or will be legally transferred to avoid draining. I will
become a ward of someone or something. I will fit into the excel-
lent description that Mr. Phillipson made for caring for his wife.

As has been stated, 2.5 million Americans suffer from the disease
and inore than 125,000 die each year. It is the fourth leading killer
in America today. Thirty-five percent of all nursing home popula-
tions are Alzheimer's patients. It is my understanding that more
than $30 billion per year is being spent on that care, and it is grow-
ing geometrically, and as the baby boom population comes into
their fifties, sixties and older, this will be as Louis Thomas said,
the disease of the century. The disease has struck people as young
as 27, and it has been found in people way into their nineties. The
usual age is in the fifties, and sixties. When I reach 50, my son will
be 20, and my daughter will be 18. That is the time when they
need me for college and everything else. If the sword falls, I will
not be there for them. Research presently is $49 million, and that
is a joke. The New York Times put out a schedule of research, with
dental research being $44 million. We either have to pay now or
pay later, I think. I think with research, if we invest, we are invest-
ing in the future, and we can invest millions now, ant maybe hun-
dreds of millions, we will save literally billions later, in terms of
taxes, direct costs of care, productivity of society.

Without this commitment for cure, I have one simple suggestion,
which is a personal one, having nothing Ix do with my affiliation or
for any association. If the commitment isn't made to cure this dis-
ease, that I be allowed to die with dignity, while my family can
r,itain pleasant memories rather than watching me waste away
slowly and painfully. I would rather be put to death with a lethal
injection or even starved to death than go through the fmal stages
of the disease. Though it begins with a simple loss of memory or
speech, which creates frustration and depression and the victim
loses his or her identity, loses the ability to perform a simple tabk,
such as feeding one's self or clothing one's self, and then it pro-
gresses much worse. That is the easy part of the disease. There is a
slow and agonizing process of death, incontinence, inability to swal-
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low, with walking becoming a shuffle, a glazed look, all the way
into a coma. It is long and painful and usually ends with pneumo-
nia, or water in the lungs, causing heart failure. This is not the
way to go. As Roswell Gilbert had, and I have to say that I feel for
the man, and I hope that somebody will have the courage to do it
to me, if I should be unfortunate enough, if we can change the laws
in that regard, I would not be unhappy. Our system of government
guarantees life, liberty and the pursuit of happiness, but our consti-
tution does not force that right on us. If I were to choose to waive
that right, I would like that.

From a family point of view, the family usually experiences
denial, confusion, tremendous loneliness, depression, hopelessness,
and then they go into the bad parts: emotional upheaval; seeing a
loved one in such a state; going through the 36-hour days as a care-
taker and caregiver, not being able to sleep because the patient
keeps them up all night and the patient sleeps during the day.
Seven days per week, 365 days per year, taking anywhere from 4 to
17 years of this hell.

The financial disaster has been mentioned. Either through home
care or nursing care, the costs are between $10,000 and $40,000 an-
nually. There is a point beyond which home care is impossible. If
somebody, say, were to have a home that cost them $30,000, which
is presently worth $200,000, and they have savings of $40,000, how
long is that going to last? What happens to the survivor when they
are gone? Social Security and pension *lust aren't enough. My Aunt
Shelley is presently living in the final stages of Alzheimer's. Her
husband, 72 years old at the time it was diagnosed, had lost a leg
in Guadalcanal and was on a disability pension from the Army, as
well as a pension from where he worked after the war. They had
put together $50,000 in savings. They had to transfer the assets and
wait 2 years before they would qualify for Medicaid. I don't know
what my uncle is going to do for the rest of his life. When I was in
Washington, last year, to meet with President Reagan in the Oval
Office, to acknowledge Alzheimer's, we walked by the Veterans'
Administration, and I happened to have taken a picture of the
plaque on the building. It says, "To care for him who should have
borne the battle and for his widow and/or family." I don't think
my uncle feels that that is a true statement today.

My Uncle Lou was in a veterans home, here in New Jersey,
many years ago. He was told to leave because they didn't have
room. They also said that there was at least a 6-month waiting
period in a nursing home.

We need more care. Once in the nursing home, there is a tre-
mendous inability of many nursing homes to provide care for these
victims. There is a tremendous lack of knowledge at all levels,
though it has improved over the years.

What we need, in a nutshell, is research, somewhere in the
neighborhood of $350 to $500 million per year, together with a com-
mitment. We have to consider the caregivers like Mr. Phillipson
and others throughout the country, in the form of home care, adult
day care, to create respites, which should be proliferated through-
out the State.

Nursing home care must be improved, must be paid for. We have
to declare Alzheimer's a catastrophic illness, which it is, change
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the Medicaid definition, educate the people, the health care profes-
sionals throughout the State, to encourage private and possibly
create public insurance to cover the cost of this terrible disease and
to help, get some kind of help and understanding from the Veter-
ans' Administration.

Thank you very much.
Mr. RINALDO. Ms. Fell.

STATEMENT OF SUSAN W. FELL, PRESIDENT, ALZHEIMER'S
DISEASE FUND OF NEW JERSEY

Ms. FELL. Thank you for the opportuni4 to testify today on
behalf of the Alzheimer's Disease Fund or New Jersey, Inc.
[ADFNJ]. My name is Susan W. Fell and I serve as president of
ADFNJ. My family and I helped found this organization on March
8, 1984, 1 day after the death of my father, Russell L. Wyckoff,
from Alzheimer's disease at age 68.

Fortunately, much information is available today about this dis-
ease, but in the 1970's when my father was seeking a name for his
memory loss problems, none of us had ever heard of Alzheimer's
disease.

In 1948 my parents founded a weekly newspaper in Union
County. As publisher, my father was extensively involved with
both community activities and , he newspaper field. He was ener-
getic, creative, and of course relied heavily on his good memory as
he built up the family business.

We are not exactly certain when he first contracted Alzheimer's
disease, but his initial memo*, problems were later coupled with
erratic behavior which seemed to have no calse nor explanation.
As all those around him grew ever more confused and agitated
about his state of mind, his condition rapidly deteriorated, finally
rendering him totally incapable. This one-time company president
was reduced to a childlike state. The only chore he was capable of
performing was" trimming the excess paper from the borders of ads.

After Alzheimer's disease was finally diagnosed, several CAT
scans and numerous tests later, we tried to lead a fairly normal
life, but found that to be impossible. On one occasion, my father
insisted that he could drive alone to my parents' winter home in
Florida, but he became confused by the road signs and was lost for
nearly 3 days. When he finally arrived, he had no idea of where he
had been. We were forced to steal his car from him and forbade
him to drive thereafter. Sometime later, back in Westfield, he wan-
dered into the downtown business district one afternoon and ap-
proached a traffic patrolman on duty, seeking to purchase a gun.
Before he could be escorted back to our parents' apartment, he had
also visited a book store, a shoe repair shop, a furrier, and a sta-
tionery shop, still looking for a gun. Thank God we will never
know what he might have done had he been able to obtain one.

Finally, after months of wandering and increasingly strange be-
havior, the family elected to place him in a local nursing home
where, despite the excellent care he received there, his condition
deteriorated steadily until his death. At the same time, my mater-
nal grandfather, who will be 86 next month, is also a victim of Alz-
heimer's disease and is in another area nursing home. For approxi-
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mately 2 years, my mother had both her husband and her father
residing in nursing homes, suffering from Alzheimer's disease. Our
family was fortunate to have the resources to pay the nursing
homes, but this is not the case with so many other families, whose
entire life's savings can be wiped out by this dreadful disease.

It is for these reasons that ADFNJ was founded, to raise funds to
help local families deal with Alzheimer's disease; to provide money
to help with day care or home care so family members can have
some respite from their exhausting caregiver duties; and especially
to offer information about the disease and to direct people to other
groups such as National Alzheimer's Disease and Related Disorders
Association, the newly opened institute in New Brunswick, various
local self-help and support groups, county and State agencies, and
the like. The ADFNj office is staffed by a paid part-time project
coordinator and several volunteers who help answer the always-
ringing phone and perform various administrative duties.

When a caregiver calls the office, we are ne w equipped to give
them the information they so desperately need. Many feel that this
cannot be happening to them, and want to just tell our worker
about the symptoms they are noticing in their spouse or parent.
We suggest they see their family doctor for a thorough examina-
tion and send them a brochure we have that answers the most
commonly asked questions about the disease.

Our bulletin board has all the latest information distributed by
the New Jersey State Department of Health and its gerontology
program. We have the complete listing of the Alzheimer's disease
support groups in the State. These are listed geographically and
give the name of the contact person, the telephone number, and
the location, date, and time of any regularly scheduled meetings.
This is especially helpful when we (get a call from someone in one
town who has a relative with Alzheimer's disease living in another
part of the State.

Indicative of our efforts at community involvement and profes-
sional education, ADFNJ recently sponsored a symposium on the
latest advances in Alzheimer's disease research at Overlook Hospi-
tal in Summit. Dr. Richard Mayeux, an associate professor of clini-
cal neurology at the College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia
University, spoke on his ongoing research efforts before an audi-
ence of over 100 doctors, nurses, and concerned area residents. A
videotape of the entire symposium was made and is available for
viewing by interested parties.

One of our major future goals will be to develop a statewide com-
munication plan to coordinate the flow of information. We hope to
publish a newsletter on a regular basis that would include timely
material from all the groups involved in combating Alzheimer's
disease.

Last November our first annual forget-me-not ball raised $20,000.
We donated that to the Adult Day Care Center at Memorial Gener-
al Hospital in Union and to COPSA in New Brunswick.

This year, in conjunction with our annual ball, we are developing
a unique concept aimed at increasing corporate support. It is called
the Corporate Patient Scholarship Program and is designed to fund
adult day care or home care scholarships for a 6- or 12-month
period. Presently the advisory board consists of representatives of
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the following: Allied-Signal, Inc.; the Honorable Chuck Hardwick;
COPSA; New Jersey Bell; New Jersey Department of Commerce;
New Jersey Department of Health; Shan ley & Fisher; Touche Ross
& Co.; United Jersey Bank, N.A.; and WJDM Radio.

We hope to raise $50,000 from this year's forget-me-not ball on
November 22, 1985, at the Hyatt Regency in New Brunswick.

Thank you for allowing me this opportunity to speak about what
I consider to be the most devastating and emotionally costly illness
now afflicting older Americans and their families. As our group's
slogan says, we must: "Remember, for the sake of those who can't."

Thank you.
Mr. RINALDO. Ms. Epstein.

STATEMENT OF CAROLYN EPSTEIN, MSW ASSISTANT EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR, SAGE, SUMMIT, NJ

Ms. EPSTEIN. Thank you for the opportunity of being here today.
I represent a community-based agency providing numerous social
services to the elderly, founded over 30 years ago. The programs in
our agency have developed and evolved in response to community
needs. Just over 10 years ago, our adult social day care program,
Spend-A-Day, was started in response to a need on the part of one
of our volunteers whose husbf..nd was suffering from a dementia of
the Alzheimer's type. She was at her wit's end and this program
came out of several meetings and support for her individual prob-
lem. Only in the more recent years have Alzheimer's and Alzhei-
mer's-type dementias heen recognized as a bona fide social prob-
lem.

Out of this meeting or in this need arose plans for a support
group for caregivers which our agency has operated for several
years now. The Adult Day Care Program grew from a 1-day-a-week
program to a 5-day-a-week program with expanded hours to accom-
modate working caregivers' schedules. We are one of four providers
of day care in Union County, and although our program is catego-
rized as social day, we currently accommodate a wide range of
physical and mental impairments. We have found that our pro-
gram is able to provide limited help for Alzheimer's victims and
their families, if intervention comes early enough.

In the early stages of dementia, the victims are better able to
relate to a group setting and the familiarity of the program en-
hances their ability to function in this setting as the disease state
advances. Our social day program doesn't afford the staff ratio to
accommodate a complete population of Alzheimer's victims. Again,
it depends on their individual levels of impairment. We have ac-
cepted several Alzheimer's victims, and they have done well in the
program. Those that we have accepted in the more advanced and
difficult stages for short periods of time, to provide a respite for the
caregiver, we have found we have had a negative impact on the
program overall. That is so because in the advanced stages, victims
need 1-to-1 supervision, which a group staffmg ratio in a day care
program such as ours doesn't afford. And these people become dis-
ruptive and agitated at the normal programing that is effective for
earlier states of dementia. There is a real need for special pro-
grams such as COPSA and additional staffing and day care pro-
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grams where the target population is specifically geared toward
Alzheimer's victims.

To address the needs of the families of Alzheimer's victims, we
need to look at the many, alany stresses that this disease places on
caregivers. One of the greatest and probably the most important
superficial need is that of respite care. By providing some respite,
it 13rolongs the ability of a caregiver to cope with the daily respon-
sibility and it relieves the stress that is built up and reduces the
potential for verbal and physical abuse in crisis situations. If only
one service could be provided for families, our opinion is it should
be a respite care program. Families have told us that without this
type of respite on the home care and day care front, they would
suffer such undue hardships, it would force them into considering
institutional placement before they were prepared to do so and
before it was the last alternative.

Other needs of the families include education so they are able to
learn more about what their loved one is going through and what
they might be able to expect. They also are in need of support from
professionals and also peer support throuei the self-help groups
that have developed throughout the State. There is a need to help
them manage the ongoing and continuous stress that they have in
their task as a caregiver. There is a great need for financial plan-
ning and assistance, and certainly not to be minimized, good medi-
cal support and counseling from a medical perspective as well as a
social perspective.

I can't stress the importance of early recognition, planning and
integration into community-based programs to help families and
victims of this disease. The Alzheimer's victims themselves need to
be assure . of a safe environment and of caring and supporting su-
pervision. They need stimulation, when stimulation is appropriate,
and they need, at later states of the disease, need to be free from
overstimulation and day-to-day things that would cause them in-
creased confusion.

The victims themselves need education in order to help them un-
derstand as best they can at different points of the disease state
what they are experiencing. Day care programs enable, as was
stated in previous testimony this morning, Alzheimer's victins to
retain a sense of self-esteem and self-worth. They also need legal
protection, and I believe that I can go on. These are the points that
I was able to highlight.

I do believe that national attention and recognition of this prob-
lem will enable us to provide a better coordinated system of care,
both for the caregivers and the victims of this disease.

It is really an astronomical problem that we in gerontological
services are seeing increasingly.

I believe that our society has a responsibility to try to minimize
the impact of the disease.

Thank you.
[The prepared statement of Ms. Epstein followsl

PREPARED STATEMENT OF CAROLYN EPErraiN, MSW, ABSISTANT EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR,
SUMMIT-AREA ABSOCIATION FOR GERONTOLOGICAL ENDEAVOR (S.A.G.E.) SUMMIT, NJ

S.A.G.E. (Summit-Area Association for Gerontological Endeavor) has been provid-
ing services to the elderly for over 30 years. Just over 10 years ago our Spend-a-Day
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Adult Social Day Care Program was started in response to a need on the part of one
of our volunteers whose husband was suffering from a dementia of the Alzheimer's
type. The program has grown from I day to 5 days a week with expanded hours.
The program is categorized ab social day care but currently accommodates a wide
range of physical and mental impairments.

Vie have found that our program can provide limited help for Alzheimer's victims
and their families if intervention comes early enough. In the early stages of demen-
tia, the victims are better able to relate to a group setting and the familiarity of the
program enhances their ability to function in this setting as the disease state ad-
vances. Our social day care program does not afford the staff ratio to accommodate
more than a limited number of Alzheimer's victims in the early stages. We have
accepted more advanced and difficult cases for short periods when the family has
been in crisis. This has often been a negative influence on the other program par-
ticipants and is not something that we are able to do on a regular basis. Many Alz-
heimer's victims need one to one supervision and are disruptive in a group setting.

To address the needs of the families of Alzheimer's victims we need to look at the
many stresses this disease places on caregivers. One of the greatest and probably
the most important need is that of respite care. Respite care prolongs the ability of
caregivers to cope with the daily responsibilities of care for longer periods. Provid-
ing respite also relieves stress build up and reduces potential for %,erbal and physi-
cal abuse. If only one service could be provided for families it should be respite care.
Families have told us that without respite they would suffer hardships that would
push them toward institutional placement.

Other needs of families include but are not limited to: education about Alzhei-.
mer's, support from professionals and peers, stress management, financial assist-
ance, good medical supports, counseling from community !mixed agencies. Again, I
cannot stress the importance of early recognition, planning, and integration for fam-
ilies and victims of this disease.

The needs that we see day-to-day for Alzheimer's victims are: safe environments,
caring and supportive supervision, limited stimulation and confusion, education, and
legal protection.

Mr. RINALDO. Mr. Pearlman.

STATEMENT OF PHILIP H. PEARLMAN, DIRECTOR, UNION
COUNTY DIVISION ON AGING, ELIZABETH, NJ

Mr. PEARLMAN. Congressman Rinaldo, other distinguished Mem-
bers of Congress, honored guests, fellow senior citizens, ladies and
gentlemen. I am pleased you have chosen Union County as a site to
gather more information on Alzheimer's disease and I am both
honored and pleased to offer testimony to you. As director of the
Union County Division on Aging, I represent a staff and a social
service network which shares the national concern for this horren-
dous disease. If I may, I would like to share with you information
within three areas regarding Alzheimer's disease as it relates to
the Union County Division on Aging. What we are doing, what are
the unmet needs, and what we view as our future role.

The Union County Division on Aging developed and implement-
ed a coordinated community care program, for elderly residents of
the county in 1981. Through that countywide program, we provide
homemakers, home health aides, nurse supervisory visits, and
adult day care. The elderly residents of the county receiving these
services suffer from a number of ailments, Alzheimer's being one of
them. These home care programs are funded by a combination of
three funding streams, OAA, title II, title XX, and funds from the
Union County Board of Social Services. All of these funding
streams are fmite, as you know, and, therefore, can provide only a
limited amount of service. Alzheimer's patients need increasingly
greater amounts of service as the disease progresses. The primary
caregivers of these patients also need increasing amounts of service
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to give them respite from their 24-hour, 7-day-a-week responsibil-
ities.

In addition to these services, many of the other programs ft. vied
through the division provide service to Alzheimer's patients and
their caregivers. Home-delivered meRls, paratransit and legal serv-
ices are typical of these services.

The services and programs referred to above and noted as being
finite are basic and important in attempting to maintain the Alz-
heimer patient in his or her home and providing the primary care-
giver some respite from their endless job. The ability to provide
services in relation to the need is hampered by the age-old problem
of money. Many Alzheimer patients and their families cannot
afford the full cost of home care. The reluctance of Medicare to ad-
dress home care as a less expensive and more humane mode of care
versus acute care in hospitals puts a severe strain on our limited
title III and title XX funds. I would encourage Congress to consider
expanding Medicare coverage of home care particularly for Alzhei-
mer's patients.

There are other areas of unmet needs which should be addressed.
The general population needs education and information so they
can understand and appreciate the tremendous difficulties imposed
on Alzheimer patients, their caregivers, and families. Although we
do not have clear demographic data on the incidence of Alzhei-
mer's disease, we know many of the residents of the county receiv-
ing home care and adult day care services through our coordinated
system are Alzheimer's patients.

The inability to provide more home care and adult day care is a
major unmet need. These modes of care not only serve the patient,
but the primary caregiver who is usually a family member who
needs respite from their never ending chores and duties. Increased
research to find the cause and ultimately the cure for Alzheimer's
disease is also a high priority. Increased training for professional
and nonprofessional caregivers to better equip them tb serve Alz-
heimer's patients is a need. More training for police and emergen-
cy personnel, who often come in contact with Alzheimer patients, is
a need. We need more trained facilitators for self-help groups who
can sustain and assist primary caregivers. The sensitivity and
awareness of health insurance carriers should also be addressed so
the strain on Medicare, title III, and title XX can be reduced. I am
sure there are other areas which can be expanded and improved.
Even within the areas I have briefly mentioned are many subparts
which can be expanded upon. Underlying all the unmet needs is
the need for stronger focus on Alzheimer's disease by all segments
of our society: government, private companies, individuals, re-
searchers, and service providers. It is a monumental task and
needs support from everyone.

We will maintain our position as the focal point of planning and
coordinating services for the elderly residents of Union County.
That position will include a focus on the needs of Alzheimer's pa-
tients, their caregivers, and their families. Through our informa-
tion and referral unit we will continue to provide for specific infor-
mation requests and general information through direct phone re-
ferrals, meetings of groups, and press releases. This will help in
filling the unmet need of public education as well as assistance to
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the Alzheimer patient and their caregiver. We also intend to be a
part of the process that will train caregivers and bring up-to-date
information on Alzheimer's to this overworked and generally un-
recognized group of people. This training and information sharing
will also include the professional staffs of home care agencies and
adult day care providers as well as other social service agencies
serving Alzheimer's patients and their families.

Another area in which we will have a role is the gathering of
data on Alzheimer's patients and their families. This data will help
the researchers as well as us as we refine our plans and services
for the victime of Alzheimer's disease patients and their families.
As part of that effort, I cannot pass up the opportunity offered by
this hearing of advocating for increased congressional support in
meeting the current unmet needs and perhaps more importantly
the anticipated future needs of Alzheimer's disease patients and
their families. During these difficult times of Federal budget cuts,
the pressures on Congress will give you many difficult decisions to
make. I trust the information you already have, coupled with what
you will hear today, will keep the nee& of Alzheimer's patients
and their families in the forefront of your deliberations and deci-
sions.

Thank you again for your attention and the opportunity to
appear before you today.

Mr. RINALDO. I would like to direct a question, if I may, to Mrs.
Fell. I have a tremendous amount of respect for your father, who
was a very distinguished publisher in this county. Mrs. Fell, what
do you think, based on your experience, should be the top priority
of this committee and the Congress for coming to grips with Alzhei-
mer's?

Is that more research funds? Is that funds to grant to States for
programs such as COPSA, or for increasing Medicare reimburse-
ment for Alzheimer's or reimbursement in the first degree?

Mrs. Fru.. I believe that the first priority would be to help fund
programs such as COPSA, since that addresses an immediate need.
I would say that, secondly, the research and Medicare problems
which would be in a tie for second. All of the needs are right now,
and it is still such a frightening situation, because really you don't
know anything about it. We are all a little bit closer, but from the
research angle, we know that the patients who currently have been
diagnosed as having Alzhiemer's, that it is totally irreversible.
Not ng can be done for them, even were they to come up with a
drug or whatever that would perhaps stop further deterioration. I
think that is what is so frightening about it as well.

Mr. RINALDO. There are many, just to follow up, national organi-
zations that have been founded for a host of diseases, heart associa-
tion, cancer, disease of the lungs, muscular dystrophy, and others.
Do you feel we need such a group for Alzheimer's or is that a role
that you and others, such as ADRDA hope to play?

Mrs. Fxu.. Yes. I think that National ADRDA has done a super
job. I think there are so many factors that we need more time like
the smaller groups to develop programs, often only in small por-
tions of the State.

Mr. RINALDO. Mr. Wollin, as you probably know, there is strong
support in Congress for increasing funding for Alzheimer's pro-
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grams. Can you give this committee your priorities for strengthen-
ing the fight? Can you rank a priority list, first, second?

Mr. WOLLIN. Priority is very tough. I think as Susan stated, you
have to spread out your dollars.

There is an immediate need. There are people calling our office
who are frightened. They need respite and care. On the other hand,
if you don't fund substantial research, you will have this problem
for a long time. The only analogy would be polio. Had the money
gone into treatment, we would have a magnificent portable iron
lung, but no cure for the disease.

I think the dollars that are available have to be spread out be-
tween the immediate respite care and research.

Mr. RINALDO. Thank you.
I would ask Mr. Phillipson the next question. Based on the very

tragic personal experience that you discussed in your testimony,
sir, do you think we are doing a good enough job at the Federal
level in educating the public about Alzheimer's?

Do you think we are making the public more aware of the dis-
ease? Do you think we are advising people properly about the ave-
nues open to them with regard to this disease?

Mr. PHILuPsoN. I think anybody who has an Alzheimer's patient
in his custody or care is able to obtain full information from all
Federal sources and state sources now, so that from an educational
standpoint, I don't think that is a problem at all.

I think the big problem for the individual who is charged with
taking care of an Alzheimer's patient is to fmd the resources to
enable him or her to do so. I think that is where the problem lies.
In that respect, if Medicare, and I personally feel, if Medicare could
be amended so as to provide for the care of mental pat!..mts and to
take care of catastrophic illnesses, I think that would go a long
way toward helping.

Mr. RINALno. Thank you.
Mr. Pearlman, in your countywide Coordinated Community Care

Program, how many elderly residents are you able to help?
Mr. PEARLMAN. At the present time, through the various funding

schemes we have, between 5 and 600 individuals, through in-home
care and adult care.

Mr. RDTALno. Of that figure, how many are AD victims?
Mr. PEARLMAN. I don't really know. We never really tried to as-

certain that. Only recently have we become aware of the fact that
many of the patients that we serve are Alzheimer victims. As my
testimony indicated to you, one of the things that we plan to do in
the future is to try to identify the individuals, so that we can start
to develop a data base for the research and our own planning
needs.

Mr. Ructimo. Any idea how many Alzheimer's victims there are
in Union County that you can't serve because of a lack of funds?

Mr. PEARiadmi. Sorry, I don't.
Mr. RDTALno. Thank you.
Ms. Epstein, I would ask you a question, if I may. Based on your

own personal knowledge, do you feel that the medical profession is
up to date in recognizing Alzheimer's? In previous hearings, there
was testimony that it was only recently that the medical profession
became aware and was able to recognize this. Do you think that
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the profession is assisting families as much as possible in coping
with the effects of the disease?

Ms. EPSTEIN. As to the first question, with regard to the medical,
I would have to answer no. We have found, unfortunately, many
GP's, many doctors who are not as up to date on Alzheimer's, and
its effects, as they could or should be, and it is difficult to know
where to send families who want a physician who specializes in
geriatric care.

There are some increasing numbers, and it has been very encour-
aging that our local hospital is now putting more of a priority on a
geriatric component in training their family practice physicians.
This has been a sadly lacking area. Second, in terms of profession-
ally assisting families, if you could clarify the question to me?

Mr. RINALDO. Do you feel that people who come to you, or if
somebody came to you, asking it this way, from a rather basic
point of view, if somebody came to you and felt that a member of
their family had Alzheimer's, what advice would you give to that
person? Where would you send them? Do you think that in this
area you are able to accurately diagnose and that there is effective
care for that person?

Ms. EPSTEIN. There would be a number of things that I could do,
if a person came to me with that problem.

I think that we do have good resources in our area. However, a
concrete diagnosis, well, that is difficult. They would need to get a
diagnosis of Alzheimer's-related dementia, a true diagnosis only
being available on autopsy.

But I could refer them to a medical person for a diagnosis and
then I would be able to help them establish a plan of care and
funnel them, or stream them into our support group, work with
them to handle the day-to-day problems, and the most pressing
problems, which are the concrete social services, at that communi-
ty based level.

I think we have made inroads into that, with our home care pro-
grams, with our adult day-to-day care program, and with the other
programs that Mr. Pearlman mentioned. I would not at this point
say that if somebody came to me, that I would throw up my hands
and say this is a terrible thing and I can do nothing. That isn't the
case. I feel that we do have a long way to go however, to provide all
the services needed.

Mr. RINALDO. Putting into effect all of the programs that you
mentioned, what would be the estimate for home care, on an
annual level, that a family would have to sustain?

Ms. EPSTEIN. Looking at care for the elderly, most families wish
to do their very best for the person they care for. They are not
looking to dump them into a nursing home. They are not looking
for 24-hour-a-day home care. They are more than willing to carry
their share of the burden. What they want to do is maintain their
sanity and health in doing so.

Home care or adult day care, when used in combination with
other support services, would probably be somewhere less than 50
percent of what institutional care would cost. It could be as little as
25 percent of what institutional care would cost, to provide an
array of services that would assist families in being able to serve as
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the primary caregivers and to do so in an effective manner in the
community.

Mr. RINALno. In dollars, what would the total annual cost be?
Ms. EPSTEIN. Nursing home costs of about $40,000 per year, so we

are probably talking somewhat less than $20,000 per year.
Even $5,000 to $10,000 in home care and day-care moneys go a

very long way.
Mr. RINALDO. Thank you very much.
Mr. COURTER. Mr. Pearlman, your program in the county, where

does your source, your sources come from? State, local, Federal pri-
vate?

Mr. PEARLMAN. Primarily Federal moneys. We are the Area
Agency on Aging in Union County. We get title III funds. We also
have social service block grant funds, and funding from the county
board of social services. Those are our primary funds. Currently,
we have a demonstration program in the county, and we are one of
five counties in New Jersey who have the home health demonstra-
tion grant. This past month we became one of the counties involved
in the State's Medicaid waiver program. So, these in combination
are primary sources to provide care.

Mr. COURTER. Do you work pretty closely with the State?
Mr. PEARLMAN. Yes.
Mr. COURTER. Mrs. Fell, what generally, if an individual who

does not know a great deal about Alzheimer's disease comes to you,
or comes to an organization, and that individual is asked for pre-
liminary information, what information is provided to them? Is
that oral, is that counseling the first day as to what may or may
not happen?

Mrs. FELL. Mostly telephone and written information. People call
up trying to determine what doctor they might be able to go to,
whether there are specialists in the field. They are looking for area
susport groups, and we would refer a lot of people to Brunswick

psA. We keep updated computerized lists of support groups.
Mostly, though, they call to talk. They have a great deal of diffi-

culty in believing this is really happening to them and to their
family. I would say most of our volunteers spend a lot of time on
the telephone, on a consistent basis just listening.

Mr. COURTER. How many different institutions are there in the
State of New Jersey, if you know, that will handle victims of Alz-
heimer's disease?

Mrs. FELL. We really don't, but there are more and more every
day. Hospitals are starting programs that didn't have them before.
We can tell just from our clipping service that a number of differ-
ent programs are starting.

The work that the State is doing in setting up the institute and
the resources; everybody can find out more and more what hospi-
tals are doing, and churches have set up support groups. A lot of
people are involved, but I don't have specific numbers.

Mr. COURTER. Mr. Phillipson, if I can ask you a question, you in-
dicated that at one time in your testimony there was a doctor who
indicated about a shuni operation, I believe.

Mr. PHILLIPSON. Yes.
Mr. COURTER. Can you elaborate on that? I know you are not a

doctor, but what did the doctor say about it?
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Mr. PHILLIPSON. He was going to drill a hole into the back of the
skull and put some sort of tube which ran from the brain section
into the stomach. That tube would remain in the system. It is
called, medically, the shunt. The idea is to relieve a certain section
of the brain from some of the liquid or pressure that builds up
there. He thought that would be a good idea.

Mr. COURTER. This is for anybody on the panel, and I gather
from the sense of the testimony today that we should do what we
can to have victims of Alzheimer's disease at home, provided there
be somebody in the family who can care for them, until a certain
stage of the illness or where the family member doesn't have the
energy to provide the care at a later stage.

Does anybody disagree with that, that that is going in a wrong
direction? Does anybody think we should increase the possibility of
institutionalization for victims of the disease? Or does everybody on
the panel come down on the side of the home care, provided there
are family members who can render such care?

Mr. PHILLIPSON. Seems that home care is by far the best.
MT. COURTER. Why?
Mr. PHILLIPSON. To begin with, they require 1-to-1. care. In the

hospital or in an institution, they cannot possibly get that type of
care, that level of care. The homemaker, though, needs help. With
some help, though, he or she can carry on. I am speaking of myself.

Mr. COURTER. Anyone on the panel, speaking of day care. You go
through an awfully long and arduous and emotionally difficult day.

Are there times you can't go on any further?
Mr. PHILLIPSON. I would love to be able to take my wife to a

place and leave her 2 or 3 days a week for a few hours per day.
Her condition is so advanced that I can't take her out any more.

Day care is wonderful for situations where patients can be taken
to centers. COPSA is an example of one. They do wonderful work
there. They take care of the patients for 2 or 3 hours a day. That is
a tremendous relief for the caretaker of the Alzheimer patient.

Mr. COURTER. Can you go out to buy groceries and household sup-
plies in your household, sir, in light of the fact that your wife
needs constant care?

Mr. PHILLIPSON. When I say constant care, I have to pay atten-
tion to her situation at all times. I can leave her. I can. She is
being left at this present moment. She is in her chair, talking to
herself. She is absolutely safe.
MT. COURTER. Alone now?
Mr. PHILLIPSON. She is at home at this moment. I must get back

to prepare her lunch and so forth. As far as shopping is concerned,
I do all of that.

Mr. COURTER. Thank you. Thank you everybody on the panel.
Mr. SAXTON. If I can change direction just a bit, I have a booklet

that was published by the U.S. Government, an accumulation of in-
formation as to various aspects of the Alzheimer's disease and con-
dition. One of the conclusions that one must draw from.the booklet
is that when it comes to the research that we have done, it seems
to me at least, that we have begun only to scratch the surface.

I was wondering if any of you could comment on research that
has been done regarding possible causes, which indicate that per-
haps part of the problem comes from a possible genetic defect.
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There is a typical infectious agent or something known as a slow
virus which may have something to do with it. Other causes may
be: accumulation of aluminum in the brain, possibly from environ-
mental sources; and a calcium reduction by certain cells that do
not perform correctly.

It doesn't go far to point out that we do not know in any great
depth or detail as to what the causes might be. It follows that we
do not know anything rr ,re than that about the cure, if we cannot
determine causes. What type of research is being done? What type
of progress have we made, if any, other than identifying these pos-
sible causes? What do you see in terms of the future, given a
proper level of funding of research by the GI, eernment?

Mr. Wou.m. As you have indicated, Otere are a number of theo-
ries, with nothing determined specifically. There is genetic, slow
virus, an aluminum theory, because in the autopsy of brains of AD
victims, there is an inordinate amount of aluminum in the brain.
They don't know if that is cause or effect. That is clearly a substan-
tial increase over norm. There are theories with regard to the im-
munity system. I think one thing we have to understand is that,
about 90 to 95 percent of what we know about the brain has been
learned in the last 15 to 20 years due to the electron microscope,
CAT-scanners, and the like.

In terms of the research going on, they are in every single field
mentioned, to determine the genetic component or marker. To do
epidemiological studies to see what effect the environment has.
There have been studies on twins. I am happy to report that in
identical twins, where one twin got it, in only 50 percent of those
studied, did the other get it. In a case studied, there was a 14-year
difference in the age of onset.

You have two people with identical genes developing a disease 14
years apart. If we can determine what in the environment pro-
longed onset, we have 90 percent of the battle done. In terms of
what research to fund, the National Institute of Health is extreme-
ly qualified to and has the scientific boards specifically designated
in Alzheimer's. Many of the members are on the medical and scien-
tific advisory board of ADRDA and issue grants for our research
program. The key would be to approach the NIA to ask them
where the best would be, but for the most part, it would be spread
out among the various things that you mentioned.

Mr. SAXTON. You mentioned NIA?
Mr. WOLLIN. Yes. Age is also involved in this. I try to get away

from the mental health aspect of it, because that has created a
problem in the past, in terms of nursing homes. They would not
take "mental patients." Alzheimer's is a disease that is a physiolog-
ical disease. There are physiological changes in the brain and brain
cells, distinguishing it from mental or emotional illness.

Yes, NIA or National Institute of Mental Health has been active
in research.

Mr. SAXTON. You said the Federal Government currently pro-
poses $56 million a year?

Mr. WoLux. I thought it was $49 million, but I stand corrected.
Mr. SAXTON. How is that aid distributed or used? Does the gov-

ernment have a program for it which does research, at NIH?
I know Johns Hopkins is involved.
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Mr. WOLLIN. Part was a result of ADRDA request for centers of
excellence. I believe three and a half million each went to three or
five centers.

Originally five, and it may have been cut back. I am not sure
whether it has been restored. Mount Sinai in New York, and Johns
Hopkins being another. There are two or three others that have re-
ceived these funds over a period, I believe, of 2 to 3 years, to
become centers of excellence for research as well as day care.
Whether it is going through NIH or NIMH, I really don't know.
But they do have the expertise, and they have called scientists
from throughout the country to decide upon various requests for
grants that have come throughout the country.

Mr. RINALDO. I would like to thank the panel. We have been
having here and in Washington, field hearings such as these to pro-
vide us with some of the local problems that arise.

I think you should be aware of the fact that funding for Alzhei-
mer's has increased dramatically. In fiscal 1984, it was $36 million;
in fiscal 1985, appropriation provides $56 million for Alzheimer's,
together with an additional $5 million to establish five more re-
search programs.

We appreciate your priorities, because certainly all ofyou are on
the firing line.

Mr. RINALDO. Dr. Davis.

STATEMENT OF KENNETH L. DAVIS, M.D., PROFESSOR OF PSY-
CHIATRY AND PHARMACOLOGY, MOUNT SINAI SCHOOL OF
MEDIC;NE; AND CHIEF, PSYCHIATRY SERVICE, VETERANS' AD-
MINISTRATION MEDICAL CENTER, BRONX, NY

Dr. DAVIS. Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, thank
you for the opportunity to speak before you here today. I am Ken-
neth Davis, a professor of psychiatry and pharmacology at Mount
Sinai School of Medicine and chief of psychiatry at the Bronx VA
Medical Center. I wduld like to talk to you about the research we
have been conducting toward developing a drug treatment for Alz-
heimer's disease, a health problem that is well known to this com-
mittee.

Alzheimer's disease is now recognized as the most common cause
of serious loss of cognitive function in the elderly. The principal
symptoms and neuropathologic hallmarks of AD have been known
for some time; clinically, these patients are characterized by pro-
gressively worsening memory, gradual loss of language ability, and
praxis function, and, occasionally, agitation, violence, or other
grossly disturbed behaviors. The principal neuropathologic features
are neurofibrillary tangles and senile plaques; because the neuro-
pathologic features are the same regardless of whether onset comes
before age 65presenileor after age 65, the term Alzheimer's dis-
ease or senile dementia of the Alzheimer's type [AD/SDAT] is used
to refer to all such patients. Epidemiologic studies indicate that
from 5 penent to 10 percent of all people older than age 65 suffer
various uementias. Of these, approximately 50 percent have Alzhei-
mer's disease [AD], 20 percent have multi-infarct dementia [MID],
20 percent to 25 percent have neuropathologic features of both AD
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and MID, and the remaining 5 to 10 percent have rare forms of de-
mentia.

In the United States, approximately 1 to 1.5 million people older
than 65, out of 25 million, probably have AD. Since nearly all vic-
tims of AD eventually require complete custodial care, these fig-
ures demonstrate both the enormous suffering and personal loss
caused by this disease as well as the effect it will have on the cost
of health care in our nation.

Currently there is no treatment for AD but, recent research on
the neurochemistry and psychopharmacology of this disease has
raised the possibility that an effective treatment may ultimately be
develnned.

A c Jties of studies conducted in the United Kingdom in 1976 and
1977 reached an extraordinary conclusion about Alzheimer's dis-
ease. Three laboratories working independently reported that in
AD, there was a loss of brain cells that made the neurotransmitter
acetylcholine. This conclusion was based upon the discovery that
the enzyme which synthesizes acetylcholine, and is only found in
brain cells that make acetylcholine; that is cholinergic neurons,
was very much reduced in the brains of patients with AD.

This finding led a number of research groups, including our own
at Mount Sinai School of Medicine and the Bronx VA, to suggest
that a possible treatment for AD would be a drug that could in-
crease brain cholinergic activity. Such an attempt was particularly
appropriate to our research ward, because we had been investigat-
ing a drug that increases brain acetylcholine, physostigmine. Phy-
sostigmine inhibits the breakdown of acetylcholine. In fact, while
neurochemists in the United Kingdom were. finding that the brains
of patients with AD had a cholinergic deficit, our laboratory was
conducting a study of the effects of physostigmine on memory in
young normal people. We found that the administration of physo-
stigmine to young normal people could improve their ability to 1..e-
member new information and this simultaneous discovery of the
acetylcholine deficiency in patients with AD, and the ability of
drugs that increased brain acetylcholine to enhance memory, led to
the idea that the memory disorder in AD might be improved with
drugs like physostigmine.

Together, the neurochemical and psychopharmacologic data pro-
vided a strong rationale for clinical trials of cholinomimetic drugs
in patients with AD. Unfortunately, a limited number of drugs are
potential candidates for cholinomimetic therapy. Physostigmine
and arecoline, the most readily available cholinesterase inhibitors
and cholinergic agonists, respectively, both have the disadvantage
of being relatively short acting with half-lives of about 30 minutes.
Long acting cholinesterase inhibitors and agonists such as di-iso-
propryl fluorophosphate and oxotremorine, respectively are fairly
toxic drugs and thus are not good candidates for clinical trials.

The earliest trials of cholinomimetic therapy for AD usually in-
volved either choline or phosphatidylcholinelecithinprecursors
to acetylcholine that are safe even in large quarAities and which
are normally obtained in the diet. It has been demonstrated in rats
that increases in dietary choline or phosphatidycholine are fol-
lowed by increases in the concentration of brain acetylcholine.
Clinical trials, however, failed to demonstrate any acute effect of
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these precursors on memory or other aspects of cognition, either in
unaffected people or iii patients with AD. The reason for this fail-
ure appears to be that precursors do not substantially affect the
rate of cholinergic transmission even though they may increase ac-
etylcholine concentrations.

With the help of a program project grant from the National In-
stitute of Aging, as well as support from the Veterans' Administra-
tion, my collegue Richard Molls and I began a study of physostig-
mine in AD. We first administered an intravenous form of the drug
and then an oral preparation. The initial studies with intravenous
physostigmine were encouraging, although the ability of physostig-
mine to improve memory was hardly as robust as one might have
hoped. Still, additional studies were necessary, because intravenous
physostigmme is so short acting that it was impossible to adequate-
ly assess whether the drug would help patients in daily life.

Studies with oral physostigmine have begun. The drug is given
every 2 hours from 7 a.m. to 9 p.m. in doses of 0.0, 0.5, 1.0, 1.5, 2.0
mg. each for 3 to 5 days. On the last day, the patient's overall
symptoms are rated with the Alzheimer's &sease assessment scale
[ADA.% at each dose. This instrument, developed in our laboratory,
measures all the principal symptoms associated with AD including
memory loss, dysphasia, dyspraxia, agitation, and mood disturb-
ance. The dose of oral physostigmine associated with the least
severe symptoms is then randomly readministered along with pla-
cebo for 3 to 5 days under double-blind conditions.

Of the first 11 patients who completed this study, 10 showed
some decrease in symptoms with at least one of the physmtigmine
doses. Of those, eight showed less severe symptoms while receivin
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physostigmine n the replication phase of the study than they did
while receiving placebo. From a clinical perspective, only three of
the patients demonstrated enough improvement to be clinically rel-
evant. On the ADAS these patients showed at least a 10-percent
improvement over placebo. Flowever, there is a very good reason to
believe that not all patients with AD will respond to this drug, nor
will all patients who respond to physostigmine respond in the same
way. This problem arises from the fact that for physostigmine,
which prevents the breakdown of existing acetylcholine, to work,
the brain must be able to synthesize some acetylcholine.

Unfortunately, as the disease progresses, cells which synthesize
acetylcholine are dying. Because of this problem, we needed some
way, besides memory testipg, to be sure the physostigmine was get-
ting into the patients' brains. In collaboration with an endocrinolo-
gist in our laboratory, Dr. Bonnie Davis, we have found that when
physost*mine enters the brain, and acetylcholine containing cells
are availe to synthesize adequate quantities of acetylcholine, the
physostigmine increases the amount of cortisol the patient's body
secretes at night. The effect of physostigmine to increase nocturnal
cortisol concentrations correlates with the drug's ability to improve
the symptoms of AD, as the figure below indicate& These results
support the notion that physostigmine only improves the cognitive
functioning in those patients whose acetylcholine containing neu-
rons have not yet been devastated by the disease.

Although these results are encouraging to the scientist, for the
patient with AD the effects are not as impressive or uniform as one
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would desire. Instead, they only point to other directions that must
be pursued and better drugs that must be developed. Nonetheless,
these results with oral physostigmine, which have been replicated
in at least five other laboratories, indicate that current approaches
are rational.

Given these effects of physostigmine, as well as results from
other researchers, there is now need to identify those Alzheimer's
patients who may be made modestly less demented by therapies
that increase brain acetylcholine. A cooperative study has been
proposed by Richard Mohs and myself as well as medical scientists
from a number of other VA's, to determine the ultimate clinical
utility of physostigmine. We are hopeful that it will be funded, and
over the next 5 years, may be able to ascertain just what segment
of the Alzheimer's population may be benefited by physostigmine.
Such a study can only be done through the cooperative studies pro-
gram at the Veterans' Administration. It will require extensive co-
ordination of the large study population that is made available by
the health care delivery system in the Veterans' Administration.
The cooperative studies program has produced invaluable studies of
the effects of treatment of high blood pressure, and prostate
cancer, yielding information which has saved lives, prevented dis-
ability, and saved health care dollars.

Whatever the results of the studies in progress, it is clear that
not all patients are going to be helped by physostigmine treatment,
and that those patients who are helped will not be returned to
normal life. For that reason, additional work is necessary. To that
end, our program has been engaged in developing an "animal
model" of Alzheimer's disease that may expedite development of
other drugs. These studies are made possible by a merit review
grant from the VA to me and my colleague, Dr. V. Haroutunian, as
well as collaboration with the Hoechst Roussel Pharmaceutical
Corp. Together we have found that destruction of a tiny part of the
rat's brain can produce a deficit in acetylcholine that in many
ways resembles the deficit that exists in AD. This rat model makes
possible the screening of drugs for their ability to improve the
memory of "demented" animals. We are particularly encouraged
by one compound that increases both ACh and NE, another neuro-
transmitter deficient in some, but not all AD patients. This, and
other promising compounds are now being tested in toxicological
studies preparatory to human investigations.

The figure below illustrates how physostigmine, the drug we are
administering to humans, can reverse the abnormal behavior that
animals with cholinergic deficit exhibit. Other drugs such as oxo-
tremorine and 4-timinopyridine, are equally effective at normaliz-
ing these animals.

In the future, and with the help of the NIA's ADRC, new drugs
that might be more efficacious will be tested, and more important-
ly, the model will be extended so that it even more closely resem-
bles the human condition. Other neurotransmitter and neuromodu-
lator deficits, particularly of noradrenergic neurons and somatosta-
tin concentrations will be induced. In addition, with the help of
funding from VA and NIA, we are now trahsplanting brain tissue
to these lesioned animals in the hope of normalizing their behav-
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ior. This will be a difficult process, but one with obvious implica-
tions for developing a treatment for Alzheimer's disease.

A major thrust of research in Alzheimer's disease is the delinea-
tion of factors associated with an increased risL for the condition.
To date, the single parameter repeatedly associated with an en-
hanced risk of Alzheimer's disease is a family history of Alzhei-
mer's disease. Recent work conducted at Johns Hopkins has par-
ticularly supported this claim. Among first degree relatives
mother, father, sisters and brothersof Alzheimer's disease pa-
tients, the incidence of Alzheimer's disease approached 50 percent
in those relatives surviving to age 90.

The peak incidence of Alzheimer's disease occurs between the
9th and 10th decades of life. Thus, the majority of Americans do
not, yet, live through the entire age of risk for the disease. Conse-
quently, determining the heritability of Alzheimer's disease is
made extremely difficult by the fact that most relatives of Alzhei-
mer's disease patients do not live long enough to definitely express,
or not express, the disease. Advances in epidemiological and popu-
lation genetics have made possible the use of mathematical tech-
niques to correct for this problem, and facilitate a more accurate
determination of the "genetics" of Alzheimer's disease. Results
from our study, in which 244 first degree relatives from 50 Alzhei-
mer's patients were studied, appears in the figure below. Like the
Hopkins study, our work also indicates that genetics play a very
strong role in the expression of this disease.

The possibility that genetic factors strongly influence the expres-
sion of Alzheimer's disease poses a new and exciting challenge to
the Alzheimer's disease research centers. The extraordinary ad-
vances that have taken place in the last decade in molecular biol-
ogy, including the cloning of genes, transfer of genes and isolation
of gene products, can now be applied to Alzheimer's disease re-
search. At this point, it is impossible to even guess at the discover-
ies that will derive from merging the powerful techniques of molec-
ular biology with neurobiological methods presently being em-
ployed to elucidate Alzheimer's disease. However, the full marriage
of these methods, which should occur in the ADRC's, will require
additional and perhaps unique modes of funding.

Too often, traditional neurobiologists doing Alzheimer's disease
research can conceptualize the molecular approaches that are
needed in Alzheimer's disease research, but are not adequately fa-
miliar with the methodologies to present a credible proposal. On
the other hand, molecular biologists are not adequately familiar
with clinical and basic neurobiological issues to conceive of the use
of their techniques in diseases like Alzheimer's. Thus, I would pro-
pose providing incremental fundingy perhaps 20 percent, to each of
the Alzheimer's disease centers simply for the purpose of recruiting
to the centers molecular biologists with a commitment to apply
their techniques to research in Alzheimer's disease.

This concludes my statement, I would be pleased to answer any
questions you or members of the committee may have.

[The prepared statement of Dr. Davis followsj
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF KENNETH L. DAVIS, M.D., PROFESSOR OF PSYCHIATRY AND
PHARMACOLOGY, MOUNT SINAI SCHOOL OF MEDICINE; AND CHIEF, PSYCHIATRY SERV.
ICE, VETERANS' ADMINISTRATION MEDICAL CENTER, BRONX, NY

Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, thank you for the opportunity to
speak before you here today. I am Kenneth Davis, a Professor of Psychiatry and
Pharmacology at the Mount Sinai School of Medicine and Chief of Psychiatry at the
Bronx VA Medical Center. I would like to talk to you about the research we have
been conducting toward developing a drug treatment for Alzheimer's disease, a
health problem that has become well known to this committee.

Alzheimer's disease is now recognized as the most common cause of serious loss of
cognitive function in the elderly. The principal symptoms and neuropathologic hall-
marks of AD have been known for some time; clinically, these patients are charac-
terized by progressively worsening memory, gradual loss of language ability, and
praxis functions, and, occasionally, agitation, violence, or other grossly disturbed be-
havior. The principal neuropathologic features are the neurofibrillary tangles and
senile plaques; because the neuropathologic features are the same regardless of
whether onset comes before age 65 (presemle) or after age 65, the term Alzheimer's
disease or senile dementia of the Alzheimer's type (AD/SDAT) is used to refer to all
such patients. Epidemiologic studies indicate that from 5 to 10 percent of all people
older than age 65 suffer various dementias. Of these, appi uximately 50 percent have
Alzheimer's disease (AD), 20 percent have multi-infarct dementia (MM), 20 to 25
percent have neuropathologic features of both AD and MID, and the remaining 5 to
10 percent have rare forms of dementia.

In the United States, approximately 1 to 1.5 million people older than 65out of
25 millionprobably have AD. Since nearly all victims of AD eventually require
complete custodial care, these figures demonstrate both the enormous suffering and
personal loss caused by this disease as well as the effect it will have on the cost of
health care in our nation.

Currently there is no treatment for AD but, recent research on the neurochem-
istry and psychopharmacology of this disease has raised the possibility that an effec-
tive treatment may ultimately be developed.

A series of studies conducted in the United Kingdom in 1976 and 1977 reached an
extraordinary conclusion about Alzheimer's disease. Three laboratories working in-
dependently reported that in AD, there was a loss of brain cells that made the
neurotransmitter acetylcholine. This conclusion was based upon the discovery that
the enzyme which synthesizes acetylcholine, and is only found in brain cells that
make acetylcholine, (i.e., cholinergic neurons) was very much reduced in the brains
of patients with AD.

This finding led a number of research groups, including our own at the Mt. Sinai
School of Medicine and the Bronx VA, to suggest that a possible treatment for AD
would be a drug that could increase brain cholinergic activity. Such an attempt was
particularly appropriate to our research ward, because we had been investigating a
drug that increases braiL acetylcholine, physostigmine. Physoetigmine inhibits the
breakdown of acetylcholine. In fact, while neurochemists in the United Kingdom
were finding that the brains of patients with AD had a cholinergic deficit, our labo-
ratory was conducting a study of the effects of physostigmine on memory in young
normal people. We found that the administration of physostigmine to young normal
people could improve their ability to remember new information. The simultaneous
discovery of the acetylcholine deficiency in patients with AD, and the ability of
drugs that increased brain acetylcholine to enhance memory, led to the idea that
the memory disorder in AD might be improved with drugs like physostigmine.

Together, the neurochemical and psychopharmacologic data provided a strong ra-
tionale for clinical trials of cholinomimetic drugs in patients with AD. Unfortunate-
ly, a limited number of drugs are potential candidates for cholinomimetic therapy.
Physostigmine and arecoline, the most readily available cholinesterase inhibitors
and chohnergic agonista, respectively, both have the disadvantage of being relatively
short acting with half-lives of about 80 minutes. Long acting cholinesterase inhibi-
tors and agonista such na di-isopropyl fiuorophosphate and oxotremorine, respective-
ly, are fairly toxic drugs and thus are not good candidates for clinical trials.

The earliest trials of cholinomimetic therapy for AD usually involved either cho-
line or phosphatidylcholine (lecithin), precursors to acetylcholine that are safe even
in large quantities and which are normally obtained in the diet. It has been demon-
strated in rata that increases in dietary choline or phosphatidylcholine are followed
by increases in the concentration of brain acetylcholine. Clinical trials, however,
failed to demonstrate any acute effect of these precursors on memory or other as-
pects 3f cognition, either in unaffected people or in patients with AD. The reason for
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this failure appears to be that precursors do not substantially affect the rate of cho-
linergic transmission even though they may increase acetylcholine concentrations.

With the help of a program project grant from the National Institute of Aging, as
well as support from the Veterans Administration, my colleague Richard Molls and
I began a study of physostigmine in AD. We first administered an intravenous form
of the drug and then an oral preparation. The inital studies with intravenous physo-
stigsnine were encouraging, although the ability of physostigrnine to improve
memory was hardly as robust as one might have hoped. Still, additional studies
were necessary, because intravenous physostigmine is so short acting that it was im-
possible to adequately assess whether the drug would help pntients in daily life.

Studies with oral physostigmine have begun. The drug is given every 2 hours from
7 a.m. to 9 p.m. in doses of 0.0, 0.5, 1.0, 1.5, and 2.0 mg each for three to five days.
On the last day, the patients' overall symptoms are rated with the Alzheimer's Dis-
ease Assessment Scale (ADAS) at each dose. This instrument, developed in our labo-
ratory, measures all of the principal symptoms associated with AD including
memory loss, dysphasia, dyspraxia, agitation, and mood disturbance. The dose of
oral physostigmnie associated with the least severe symptoms is then randomly
reaciministered along with placebo for three to five days under double-blind condi-
tions.

Of the first 11 patients who completed this study, 10 showed some decrease in
symptoms with at least one of the physoltigmine doses. Of those, eight less severe
symptoms while receiving physoetigmine in the replication phase of the study than
they did while receiving placebo. From a clinical perspective only three of the pa-
tients demonstrated enough improvement to be clinically relevant. On the ADAS
these patients showed at least a 10-percent improvement over placebo. However,
there is very good reason to believe that not all patients with AD will respond to
this drug, nor will all patients who respond to physostigmine respond in the same
way. This problem arises from the fact that for physostigmine, which prevents the
breakdown of existing acetylcholine, to work, the brain must be able to synthesize
some acetylcholine. Unfortunately, as the disease progresses cells which synthesize
acetylcholine are dying. Because of this problem we needed snme way besides
memory testing, to be sure the physostigmine was getting into the patients' brains.
In collaboration with an endocrinologist ;- our laboratory, Dr. Bonnie Davis, we
have found that when physostigmine ente le brain, and acetylcholine containing
cells are available to synthesize adequate quantities of acetylcholine, the physostig-
mine increases the amount of cortisol the patient's body secretes at night. The effect
of physostigmine to increase nocturnal cortisol concentrations correlates with the
drug's ability to improve the symptoms of AD, as the figure below indicates. These
results support the notion that physostigmine only improves the cognitive function-
ing in those patients whose acetylcholine containing neurons have not yet been dev-
astated by the disease.

Although these results are encouraging to the scientist, for the patient with AD
the effects are not as impressive or uniform as one would desire. Instead, they only
point to other directions that must be pursued and better drugs that must be devel-
oped. Nonetheless, these results with oral physostigmine, which have been replicat-
ed in at least fivo other laboratories, indicate that current approaches are rational.

Given these effects of p.hysostigmine, as well as results from other researchers,
there is now need to identify those Alzheimer's patients who may be made modestly
less demented by therapies that increase brain acetylcholine. A cooperative study
has been proposed by Richari Mobs and myself, as well as medical scientists from a
number of other VA's to determine the ultimate clinical utility of physostiginine.
We are hopeful that it will be funded, and over the next five years, may be a le to
ascertain just what segment of the Alzheimer's population may be benefited by phy-
sostigmine. Such a study can only be done through the cooperative studiesprogram
at the Veterans Administration. The cooperative studies program has produced in-
valuable studies on the effects of treatment of high blood pressure, and prostate
cancer, yielding information which has saved lives, preventecl disability, and saved
health care dollars.

Whatever the results of the studies in progress, it is clear that not all patients are
going to be helped by physoetigmine treatment, and that those patients who are
helped will not be returned to normal life. For that reason, additional work is neces-
sary. To that end, our program has been engaged in developing an "animal model"
of Alzhaimer's disease that may expedite development of other drugs. These studies
are made possibly by a merit review grant from the VA to me and my collegue, Dr.
V. Haroutunian, as well as collaboration wth the Hoechst Roussel Pharmaceutical
Corp. Together we have found that destruction of a tiny part of the rat's brain can
produce a deficit in acetylcholine that in many ways resembles the deficit that
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exists in AD. This rat model makes possible the screening of drugs for their ability
to improve the memory of "demented" animals. We are particularly encouraged by
one compound that increased both ACh and NE, another neurotransmitter deficient
in some, but not all AD patients. This, and other promising compounds are now
being tested in toxicological studies preparatory to human investigations.

The figure below illustrates how physoetigmine, the drug we are administering to
humans, can reverse the abnormal behavior that animals with a cholinergic deficit
exhibit. Other drugs such as oxotremorine and 4-aminopyridine, are equally effec-
tive at normalizing these animals.

In the future, and with the help of the NIA's ADRC, new drugs that might be
more efficacious will be tested, and more importantly, the model will be extended so
that it even more closely resembles the human condition. Other neurotransmitter
and neuromodulator deficits, particularly of noradrenergic neurons and somatcsta-
tin concentrations, will be induced. In addition, with the help of funding from VA
and the MA, we are now transplanting brain tissue to these lesioned animals in the
hope of normalizing their behavior. This will be a difficult process, but one with ob-
vious implications for developing a treatment for Alzheimer's disease.

A major thrust of research in Alzheimer's disease is the delineation of factors as-
sociated with an increased risk for the condition. To date, the single parameter re-
peatedly associated with an enhanced risk of Alzheimer's disease is a family history
of Alzheimer's disease. Recent work conducted at Johns Hopkins has particularly
supported this claim. Among first degree relatives (mother, father, sister, and broth-
ers) of Alzheimer's disease patients, the incidence of Alzheimer's disease approached
50 percent in those relatives surviving to age 90.

The peak incidence of Alzheimer's disease occurs between the ninth and tenth
decades of life. Thus, the majority of Americans do not, yet, live through the entire
age of risk for the disease. Consequently, determining the heritability of Alzheimer's
disease is made extremely difficult by the fact that most relatives of patients do not
live long enough to definitely express, or not express, the disease. Advances in epi-
demiological and population genetics have made possible the use of mathematical
techniques to correct for this problem, and facilitate a more accurate determination
of the "genetics" of Alzehimer's disease. Results from our study, in which 244 first
degree relatives from 50 Alzheimer's patients were studied, appears in the figure
below. Like the Hopkins study, our work also indicates that genetics play a very
strong role in the expression of this disease.

The possibility that genetic factors strongly influence the expression of Alzhei-
mer's disease poses a new and exciting challenge to the Alzheimer's disease re-
search centers. The extraordinary advances that have taken place in the last decade
in molecular biology, including the cloning of .genes, transfer of genes and isolation
of gene products, can now be applied to Alzhetmer's disease research. At this point,
it is impossible to even guess at the discoveries that will derive from merging the
powerful techniques of molecular biology with neurobiological methods presently
being employed to elucidate Alzheimer's disease. However, the full marriage of
these methods, which occur in the ADRC's, will require additional and pe.rhaps
unique modes of funding. Too often, traditional neurobiologists doing Alzhetmer's
disease research can conceptualize the molecular approaches that are needed in Alz-
heimer's disease research, but are not adequately familiar with the methodologies to
present a credible proposal. On the other hand, molecular biologists are not ade-
quately familiar with clinical and basic neurobiological issues to conceive of the use
of their techniques in diseases like Alzheimer's. Thus, I would propose providing in-
cremental funding (perhaps 20 percent) to each of the Alzheimer's disease centers
simply for the purpose of recruiting to the centers molecular biologists with a com-
mitment to apply their techniques to research in Alzheimer's disease.

This concludes my statement, I would be pleased to answer any questions that
you or members of the committee may have.

Mr. RINALDO. Dr. Feldberg.

STATEMENT OF DR. MURRAY FELDBERG, COORDINATOR, ALZ-
HEIMER'S DISEASE PROJECT, VA MEDICAL CENTER, LYONS, NJ
Dr. FELDBERG. Mr. Chairman, and members of the committee, I

welcome this opportunity to discuss our program for Alzheimer's
disease patients at the VA Medical Center in Lyons, NJ. In addi-
tion I will attempt to indicate those areas that are in need of sup-
port in the future.
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Mental decline associated with, but not limited to, old age is
known by the term "dementia," or "chronic brain syndrome." The
most common dementias are, one, the multi-infarct dementia
caused by a series of strokes, which results in the death of brain
tissue, and two, the so-called Alzheimer's disease which also leads
to atrophy of the brain.

The symptoms of dementia include the following:
(A) a loss of intellectual abilities of severity sufficient to interfere

with social and occupational functioning;
(B) memory impairment;
(C) and one or more of the followinr. impairment of abstract

thinking as manifested by concrete thinking, difficulty in defining
words, and difficulties with other similar tasks; impaired judgment;
other disturbances of higher brain functioning such as difficulty in
speaking, or aphasia; inability to carry out various activities de-
spite the absence of paralysis, or apraxia; and failure to recognize
or identify familiar objects despite intact senses, or agnosia;

(D) the patient is not delirious and, therefore, is aware and alert
despite the conffision.

The above list of characteristics of dementia is taken from the
Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of the American Psychiatric As-
sociation. The symptoms that occur most frequently include: seri-
ous forgetfulness, confusion and certain other personality changes,
and behavioral changes.

These symptoms can be caused by a variety of organic conditions,
some of which are reversible or, in other words, curable. Therefore,
early diagnosis is essential. Alzheimer's disease is a chronic neur-
opsychiatric disorder of unknown origin and is characterized by im-
paired and deteriorating intellectual functioning.

When originally described in 1906, the condition was thought to
be relatively rare, but the availability of refined diagnostic tech-
niques has led to the awareness that the condition is much more
frequent than originally thought. One study has shown that 20 per-
cent of women and 8 percent of men in geriatric hospitals have this
disorder. The condition may go undiagnosed because of its similari-
ty to other neuropsychiatric disorders. Alzheimer's disease results
in changes in the nerve cells of the brain's outermost covering, the
cortex; resulting in the death of large numbers of cells. It is expect-
ed that over the next 50 years, the over-65 population will grow by
more than 150 percent from 25 million to a projected 65 million in
2030. An estimated 6 percent of that population will suffer from
Alzheimer's disease.

Alzheimer's disease accounts for over half of all cases of senile
dementia. While Alzheimer's disease is characterized by: forgetful-
ness; impaired judgment; inability to handle routine tasks; lack of
spontaneity; lessening of initiative; disorientation of time, place
and eventually of person; the following must also be ruled out,
since any of these conditions may cause a person to display Alzhei-
mer's-like symptoms: pernicious anemia; medication reactions; hor-
monal problems; psychological conditions, especially depression; al-
cohol and other drug abuse; brain tumor and head trauma; chronic
brain and meningeal infections; strokes, multi-infarct dementia;
Pick's disease; Par n's disease; Creutzfeld-Jakob disease.
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One may divide the course of the illness into four stages. The
first stage, lasting from 2 to 4 years, is characterized by memory
loss, disorientation, and a lack of spontaneity. Judgment begins to
suffer and is often accompanied by a serious inability to handle ev-
eryday tasks.

The second stage, lasting many years, is characterized by pro-
gressive memory loss and difficulty in speaking, performing every-
day tasks and recognizing familiar objects. There is a tendency to
wander off and get lost, and to perform repetitious movements,
such as lip-smacking or chewing. Most people with this condition,
at this stage, are in constant motion. Although this phase is initial-
ly associated with an increase in appetite, later on there is a com-
plete indifference to food and the patient even forgets to eat.
Speech becomes slower and there is increased difficulty in making
decisions and plans. The patient becomes increasingly self-absorbed
and insensitive to others.

During the third stage, there is a marked change in behavior,
with little warmth toward loved ones. People are misidentified. Fi-
nally, during the final phase of the condition, the patient is apa-
thetic and incontinent, and must have total nursing care for even
the most rudimentary task of daily living. Such is the course of the
illness.

I would like next to describe the VA Medical Center at Lyons
and then discuss the role we currently play in the care of the Alz-
heimer's disease patient and the role we would like to play in the
patient's care, if we receive the appropriate support.

The Medical Center at Lyons is a 1,171-bed neuropsychiatric fa-
cility operated by the Veterans' Administration for the care of vet-
erans primarily f'rom New Jersey, but also from the neighboring
States of New York and Pennsylvania. It is part of Medical District
4, which includes VA hospitals in New Jersey, Delaware, and East-
ern Pennsylvania.

The facility is constructed in the form of two circles. Circle II is
devoted entirely to the care of psychiatric patients. Circle I is dedi-
cated to the care of the medically infirm veteran. It consists of 30
acute medical beds, including an intensive care unit and respirato-
ry care unit. In addition, there is a rehabilitation medicine service
consisting of 30 beds; 245 beds are given over to the chronic medi-
cal patient. There is a nursing home care unit of 90 beds and on
October 17, 1985, ground was broken for the construction of an ad-
ditional 240-bed nursing home care unit.

Within circle I, there are 38 beds designated for the care and
treatment of patients with Alzheimer's disease and related dem
entias. The unit, called 9-A North and South, is staffed by two in-
ternists, 8 RN's, 1 LPN, and 21 nursing assistants. I am the coordi-
nator of the program and also serve as the psychiatric consultant.

The unit is staffed around the clock, 24 hours a day, 7 days a
week. Because it occuPies the space formerly devoted to respiratory
care, the unit is unusually well-equipped to handle medical emer-
gencies such as aspirations, choking, and pneumonias, not to men-
tion seizures and cardiac emergency. Because our patients, without
exception, have multiple and severe medical problems in addition
to Alzheimer's disease, the availability of expert medical care is es-
sential.
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Although the medical center had once hoped to be able to pro-
vide services for veterans who were in all stages of dementia, and
indeed, to provide diagnostic evaluation for outpatients, recent
changes in the resource allocation methodology have meant a cur-
tailment of these essential plans. A program for outpatients con-
sisting of a 5-day diagnostic workup has been set aside as impracti-
cal in light of current financial limitations. Because of the shrink-
ing funds, the medical center has determined that it must limit its
services to those veterans who are too disturbed or require such ex-
cessive amounts of care that they cannot be placed elsewhere.

Thus, the medical center is in the process of transferring pa-
tients who are located elsewhere in the medical center to the spe-
cialized program of the Alzheimer's unit. There are approximately
39 patients within the medical center who carry the diagnosis of
Alzheimer's disease, although it is not clear to us at this point that
all of them require the total care ward 9-A provides. Those who do
will be transferred to the Alzheimer's disease unit. In addition, the
medical center provides ongoing support and counseling for the
families who are approaching the point of referral for admission to
the medical center. These groups, heavily attended, meet monthly
at the medical center during evening hours.

The medical center sees its responsibility as not only the care of
the infirm Alzheimer's disease patient, but to support, within the
limits of its resources, the significant research in the disease cur-
rently in progress at the VA Medical Center in the Bronx, and de-
scribed by Dr. Davis in his presentation. The medical center also is
currently involved in investigations into the symptoms of agitation
and depression commonly found in Alzheimer's diaease and the
cause of significant failure in placement outside of the hospital.

Although the unit seems to be well-staffed due to the commit-
ment of the chief of staff and medical center director, there are
fundamental difficulties that stand in the way of care for these dif-
ficult patients. These problems cannot be resolved by cannibalizing
the medical center. These patients, requiring as they do total care
and constant supervision, make it mandatory to increase nursing
personnel on all shifts. In addition, there is the planned essential
ingredient of being able to provide timely intervention when the
disease first appears since it is only then that reversible causes can
be treated. It has been our hope to increase our involvement with
the Alzheimer's disease patient by establishment of various outpa-
tient diagnostic and support services. However, for the time being,
this effort must be abandoned pending recognition by VA of the
medical center's needs if it is to undertake the care of this most
challenging patient.

In summary, then, Alzheimer's disease is an illness that may
best be understood in terms of, one, its devastating clinical conse-
quences for the patient; two, its impact on the family; and three,
its impact on society. Because of the nature of the illness, there are
numerous problems facing families who are attempting to cope
with Alzheimer's disease patients. These behavioral and mental
problems include depressions and delusions, and wandering and
agitation and the stress on families is enormous. But even where
these symptoms are not present, the- retreat of the patients from
contact with family members and the gradual inability of the pa-
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tient to respond to affection and warmth takes its toll on the care-
giver. Finally, the potential impact on society both in terms of pro-
viding alternatives to institutionalization such as respite care and
partial hospitalization and the facilities for long-term care are
enormous.

Thank you.
Mr. RINALDO. While you are there, if I may, do you believe the

medical profession as a whole is up-to-date on Alzheimer's?
DT. FELDBERG. No.
In conjunction with Mount Sinai and Bronx, we are having a

series of seminars beginning at the end of November.
Mr. RINALDO. Do you think that the increased awareness of the

disease, with that awareness, a more accurate diagnosis can be
made by the physician?

Dr. ftLDBERG. Yes. The diagnosis of the Alzheimer's picture is
often based on a suspicion of senility and therefore what can be ex-
pected? I think that other diseases, which are themselves reversi-
ble, can be detected, and possibly corrected if caught early. As I
said, we hope to begin the seminars at the end of November.

Mr. RINALDO. Dr. Davis, if I may, you suggested in your testimo-
ny recruiting molecular biologists and integrating them into the
existing centers of excellence. 'Would this require legislation? Could
the centers do it now on their own? Would it require funds?

Dr. DAVIS. Centers cannot do it now. The reason they cannot, the
initial allocation to the 5 centers was for 5 years, each with a
direct and indirect cost of about $700,000 per year. As it turned out
the applications well exceeded in scope what could be funded by
that $700,000 per year per center.

By the nature of the competition, the centers wrote relatively
conservative applications. No center desired to engage in high-risk
research with the possibility of not being funded.

Today, there does not exist in any of the centers the kind of flexi-
bility that a director can recruit as outstanding molecular biolo-
gists, bring them into the center and equip their laboratories.

It is extraordinarily expensive to fund an entire laboratory in
molecular biology.

Mr. RINALDO. If we were able to obtain the funds, would you be
willing to work with the committee in coming up with a method of
implementing your proposal?

Dr. DAVIS. I would be pleased to do that.
Mr. RINALDO. Either one of you: How early in the course of this

disease, under current conditions, can a reasonably accurate diag-
nosis be made?

Dr. DAVIS. Diagnosis is a problematic issue in the disease. Until
recently, rather loose diagnostic criteria were used almost interna-
tionally, which resulted in misdiagnoses rates that could be as
large as 50 percent, when diagnoses in life was compared to the pa-
thology at autopsy.

In the last few years, there have really been tremendous ad-
vances in stipulating clinical dinnostic criteria. I am aware of
three studies which have used MNEOS criteria or criteria very
much like them, and confirmed their diagnosis in life with post
mortem changes. An accuracy of about 90 percent has been found.
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To be that accurate, patients usually have to have had the disease
1 or 2 years.

Mr. RINALDO. Assume the patient has it for 1 to 2 years and it is
accurately diagnosed, at that point in time, can anything be done
to inhibit the progression of the disease? I assume that in one or
two years, the disease should be at a relatively early stage.

Dr. DAVIS. At this point, there is nothing that can inhibit the
course of the disease. 1knother interesting possibility raised by ge-
netic studies, in combination with findings from position emission
tomography, is that a diagnostic marker for AD that can be ob-
tained with a PET scan. There is a PET scanner at Brookhaven
where we collaborate.

Using that PET marker, it may be possible to identify a group of
incipient Alzheimer's patients, patients who are perhaps showing
pathophysiological changes on the PET scan.

If we could identify such a group of patients, it might be possible
to begin to conceive of strategies of prevention. The difficulty here,
again, is dollars. A complete l'ET scan facility costs approximately
for $2Y2 million, about.

There is one facility in Brookhaven for our area, and that cannot
really support the scope of research we envision.

Mr. RINALDO. What do you think should be an appropriate level
of funding for research? I am on the Energy and Commerce Com-
mittee, which has jurisdiction on health matters, and this is some-
thing we discussed recentl, when considering a piece of legislation,
and I would like your opinion.

Dr. DAVIS. As you know, this is a very difficult question. There is
no linear correlation between dollars spent and advances in sci-
ence.

Certainly, the war on cancer has been prototypical in emphasiz-
ing the difficlty in relating dollars to results. We have an addition-
al problem in Alzheimer's, as there are a limited number of centers
of excellence. This is a disease which only recently attracted scien-
tists. We have to pull ourselves up by our bootstraps.

In the
i
past 2 to 3 years, there have been so many important ad-

vances n neurochemistry, neurophysiology, if we doubled the
amount of funds, if we had $100 million today, it would be well
spent.

This additional increment of nearly $50,000,000, to be optimally
spent, will require novel funding mechanisms. Specifically, devices
should be developed that could encourage collaborations between
molecular neurobiologists and clinical neuroscientists. It is my firm
conviction that the next breakthrough in Alzheimer's disease will
require the application of a basic molecular strategy. Unfortunate-
ly, the majority of neuroscientists presently conductmg Alzheimer's
disease research are not primarily educated in molecular neurobi-
ology, and those scientists who have their primary training in this
area rarely conceptualize their investigations in terms of pathophy-
siological questions.

To facilitate the collaboration between these two groups, I would
propose that the Alzheimer's Disease Research Centers apply to
the NIA for funds specifically for the purpose of recruiting molecu-
lar neurobiologists to the Ahheimer's Centers. Three to five page
preliminary proposals would be sent along with the curriculum

45



42

vitae of scientists who would join the center. The NIA would pro-
vide equipment, salary, and technical support for approximately 3
years. At the end of this time it would be expected that the Alzhei-
mer's Center would write a formal proposal for continued re-
sources.

Obviously this is simply an outline of one of a number of possi-
bilities for encouraging new directions in Alzheimer's disease re-
search.

Mr. RINALDO. During the testimony of some of the other wit-
nesses, they talked about Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement as
a viable method of financing care of Alzheimer's victims. Can you
give us an estimate or guesstimate of what this would cost nation-
ally?

Dr. FELDBERG. No.
Dr. DAVIS. When we have talked about this in our laboratory, it

is frightening. We have data with projections of the number of Alz-
heimer's patients in the United States by the year 2005.

Mr. RINALDO. What does that show?
Dr. DAVIS. Something over 2.5 million patients. This number

really reflects the population of Americans who will be suffering
from dementia of any kind. The percentage with Alzheimer's disease
will be between 40 percent and 60 percent of this larger amount,
with other causes of dementia being multi-infarct dementia as well
as mixed cases of multi-infarct and Alzheimer's type dementia.

Mr. RINALDO. How many?
Dr. DAVIS. 2.5 million.
Mr. RINALDO. Can you give us an idea of what it would cost to

Medicare?
Dr. DAVIS. If $40,000 is a fair number, we can project.
Mr. RINALDO. Per year?
Dr. DAVIS It is extraordinary. The country cannot afford this

type Of expenditure.
If we are not going to force you to make some awful decisions, to

force you to make truly inhumane decisions, that we as physicians
cannot face, we have no choice but to invest in research, though
there is hardly a guarantee that it will work.

Mr. RINALDO. From your testimony, it seems to me that it would
be almost impossible to fund that under Medicare because it would
bankrupt the system. Additional research dollars in the magnitude
of $100 million, those may provide more meaningful insight into
the causes, possible causes of Alzheimer's?

Dr. DAVIS. Yes, and I would add a caveat. I think we might have
to consider using that money in more unique ways than tradition-
ally used by the Institutes. For example, different funding devices
to begin to bring people together who would not otherwise come to-
gether and write a proposal.

How do we stimulate proposals from people who would not initi-
ate them.

Mr. RINALDO. Your help in that area would be valuable to the
committee as well as the Committee on Health, Subcommittee on
Health, full Commmittee on Energy and Commerce.

Any ideas that you have and would like to offer, we would appre-
ciate receiving.

Dr. DAVIS. Thank you.
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Mr. COURTER. Dr. Feldberg, is there any uniform treatment of
veterans that have Alzheimer's disease across the country? How do
you determine who you take? Is that first-come, first-serve? Are
some VA hospitals taking Alzheimer's patients and others not?

Dr. FELDBERG. I am not sure there is a uniform policy. I know
that at Lyons there are multiple ways for a patient to enter a hos-
pital.

There are patients who have made application to be admitted di-
rectly to the program. It is not really a program, but a ward that
has been designated to house AD patients.

Usually, the patients are admitted almost on an emergency basis,
and they will be admitted at all hours, including, well, when tradi-
tionally we are not available. That would be evenings or weekends.

Then, depending on where they are admitted, a consultation re-
quest is made of the Alzheimer disease group. We will see the pa-
tient and transfer them.

We have no policy other than that anyone who needs admission
can get into the hospital. If they require intensive enough nursing
care, they can be transferred to our ward.

We are stuck with a problem that our patients have to be totally
disabled or have major behavioral problems in order for us to take
them on 9Athe Alzhehner disease unit.

That is not a bad situation, because the hospital as a whole is
geared to the care of chronic patients, but we feel there is a special
type of care derived on 9A that can't be derived from others.

I think all VA hospitals suffer from the same burden, because of
the changes effected by the resource allocation model.

Mr. COURTER. You haVe 38 beds?
Dr. FELDBERG. Yes. Designated for this project. We have 22 pa-

tients. All of our beds are taken. We have 22 patients that we call
total care. They need assistance and not supervision; assistance in-
cludes eating, getting up, swallowing.

Mr. RINALDO. You said that you have 38 AD victims in the hospi-
tal.

Dr. FELDBERG. On our unit.
Mr. RINALDO. Do you have a waiting list?
Dr. FELDBERG. Not in the sense that you would think of one. We

do not have a waiting list.
Mr. RINALDO. Suppose there were another Alzheimer's patient to-

tally disabled, could he be admitted?
Dr. FTXDBERG. Yes. The remaining beds, 16 beds, are occupied

with patients in various forms of dementia wht. are not total care
patients. We exchange in that instance.

We also discharge patients from the unit. There are patients who .
settle down who can return home.

There are patients who settle down and go to n Arsing homes. We
have an active program in that regard.

Mr. COURTER. I assume there is no answer to this question, but
what is the life expectancy of somebody who contra, ts AD?

Dr. DAVIS. I think the statistics show the av- 4,e length of ill-
ness is about 7 years, with a wick. ve,:iation.

Mr. COURTER. I would imagine the staVrlics that if you con-
tract at 72, you can live 7 years. If you co J. dct dt 55, is this a rela-
tionship or is it based on the severity of the disease?
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Dr. DAVIS. The disease is more malignant and pervasive in
younger people, with a more rapid downhill course, than a person
who contracts the disease at 89, say.

Mr. COURTER. I believe you and others mentioned that heredity
might have something to do with that. Is that accepted, an accept-
ed understanding in the medical profession or is that theory?

Dr. DAVIS. I think what is accepted is that heredity plays an im-
portant role. The question is how important.

The data from our laboratory and Hopkins and work ongoing at
Cornell would indicate extremely important.

That is why we have a new road to take, molecular biology.
Mr. COURTER. I believe you heard Mr. Phillipson testify. There

was mention of a shunt operation. Is there anything to that? Is
there any other type of operation?

Dr. DAVIS. Well, there are two possible surgeries that I talked
about: one, that the disease was being misdiagnosed and that his
wife had normal pressure hydrocephaly.

There is a group of neurosurgeons inserting an abdomenalventri-
cular shunt, the shunt contains a drug which increases acethylcho-
line activity in the brain.

What thac points out is the heroic measures that a neurosurgeon
can conceive of to get drugs into the brain. A better way is to con-
vince drug companies to develop better drugs, in order to get drugs
to passed the blood-brain barrier.

Mr. SArrox. Two questions for Dr. Davis, and I will ask the ques-
tions and let me explain why I ask them.

Do you consider Alzheimer's to be a form of mental illness?
Second, if you do, do you feel that there is some measure of benefit
to be gained by doing Alzheimer's research in conjunction with
other types of mental illness research?

The reason that I ask the question is that I have learned that
through research in various programs, certain types of advances
can be made in treatment and administration of medication,
almost as kind of a biproduct of one program into another.

Certain types of depression are helped or treated by drugs devel-
oped for the treatment of epilepsy.

If you consider this to be a type of mental illness or disorder, is
the answer to the second question, then, one that would be impor-
tant?

Dr. Davis. Well, in Europe, and the United Kingdom, psychia-
trists traditionally take care of patients with dementia. In the
United States, that has been less clear. Often it is neurologists,
sometimes internists, sometimes psychiatrists.

That is perhaps because of an older tradition in American psy-
chiatry of psychoanalysis.

In the past 20 years, more modern academic psychiatry is biologi-
cal.

In fact, we are moving to consolidated departments of neurology,
neurosurgery and psychiatry at Mount Sinai.

People with dementia have a behavioral disorder. Behavioral dis-
orders can have an origin in chemical disturbances, or physical dis-
turbances, but are the province of people interested in behavior.
Such people should be working together and not split hairs.
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We have learned in our group, as people who are very interested
in depression and schizophrenia, a number of things about those
diseases from studying patients with dementia.

There are collaborative synergistic effects that come from per-
ceiving these diseases as having a common origin.

Mr. SAXTON. Our appropriation process is a reason for asking the
question, in terms of what we can determine about Alzheimer's.

Dr. DAVIS. As an observer of some of the institutes, I think NIHhas taken a lead to a degree in conceiving the Alzheimer's prob-
lems. I don't think it would be a bad idea if you used as the lead
agency NIA in funding research.

Mr. RINALDO. I would like to thank our witnesses.
Before we leave, I was intrigued by your statement that much

more can be done, Dr. Davis, if private industry spend additionalfunds in research. Is there any way that you know of that we can
encourage this to take place?

Dr. DAVIS. Yes. I am not a great advocate for the idea that phar-
maceutical companies should reap huge returns from research. But
the cost of conceiving an Alzheimer's project from synthesizing adrug to FDA approval has been estimated by some individuals that
I have met, whom I respect, as $100 million. That is an extraordi-
nary cost.

Because of that cost, it is a very rare company that will take ahigh risk approach. The result is a lot of me-too kind of pharmacol-
ogy, of taking a drug that is approved and is very, very modestly
effective in some studies and devising a new analog of it. That ap-proach is not so expensive or fraught with risk.

Drug companies may need an added incentive in diseases like
Alzheimer's, where the risk is great.

I repeatedly gave detailed scientific discussions to a number of
conferences where pharmaceutical manufacturers were there. I
was invited to address the Pharmaceutical Manufacturers Associa-tion meeting, and virtually every major U.S. pharmaceutical com-pany was there, and when it was over, only one came back to meand said this is interesting and let's see if we can conceive of aproject that might alleviate suffering.

Most companies feel it would be safer to synthesize analogs of ex-isting compounds.
Perhaps that is because of the patent laws and they should get

larger return for $100 million profit. I cannot speak to that.
Mr. RINALDO. Thank you. You have provided valuable insights

into the disease. Thank you for your exceptional help to the com-mittee.
I would like to once again thank my colleagues, Congressman

Courter and Congressman Saxton, for joining us in this productivehearing.
We will bring this information back to the other members of the

committee in Washington, along with the rest of the committees
that deal with this problem. Hearing adjourned.

[Whereupon, at 12 noon, the hearing was adjourned.]
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APPENDIX

PREPARED STATEMENT or MARYANNE BENSON, BOARD *MEER, ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE
SUPPORT NETwon, NEWARK, NJ

I am the daughter of an Alzheimer's victim and aware of the devastating effect ofthis disease on families. My mother, a victim of Alzheimer's disease, has been livingin a nursing home since 1983. Since my father passed away, I am pemonally andfinancially responsible for her care, but I could not financially afford her nursing
home care without Medicaid assistance.

It has been one year since the State of New Jersey addressed the issue of Alzhei-mer's Disease with the establishment of an Alzheimer's Disease Study Commission.That concern has developed into a commitment from tie State to appropriate$500,000 to set up the Alzheimer's Institute at the Con..nunity Mental Health
Center at Rutgers Medical School. This Institute will begin to address some of theconcerns of families with its diagnostic and resource center and professional train-ing component. This 'Institute was realized through the joint cfforts of public offi-
cials, professionals and family members. Eamily members, Varough the supportgroup network, have played a key role in this partnership and should be recognizedfor their lobbying efforts.

I have been active with professionals and caregivers in family support efforts andhave seen the commitment and dedication from these families. It is through thesupport group network that patient management and practical concerns are shared,issues discussed and information exchanged. Support groups play an important rolein the dissemination of information to both caregivers and professionals. The sup-port group network is an integral part of this partnership. Professionals and publicofficials can be more responsive to some of the problems facing the patient andfamily by working through the support group network.
With the national attention that Alzhehner's Disease is receiving, I hope thatmore resources will be channeled into the fight against it and that New Jersey willbe in the forefront of this fight.

MILLTOWN, NJ, October 28, 1985
To whom it may concern: The need for improving medical care and special facili-ties for Alzheimer's victims is a national priority! All hospitals and nursing homesshould have trained personnel that are familiar with the disorder. The majority ofthese patients when they become end stage (that is totally dependent on others fortheir care), and become medically ill, require around-the-clock medical attentionwhich general nursing homes cannotprovide because of inadequate facilities.
National health care dollars, especially Medicaid should be available to all with-out restrictions of time limitations in relationship to the onset of the disease versusthe time a medicaid application was submitted for the patient. Unless you are com-pletely destitute for a period of 2 years prior to the onset of this disease, you are noteligible for benefits from Medicaid, and the hassle, aggravation, and humiliationfrom all the local agencies is involved with your application is just a waste of time!There is a great need to restructure this system so honest people, taxpayers, canreceive some Federal aid.
Finally, a program for minimally afflicted patients should be made available forassistance at home in order to allow only more severely affected patients in the hos-pital setting. The need for support groups that tell it like it is are also in realdemand since this disease devastates and completely wipes out the entire family.Please help, you all might suffer from this horrible disorder some day in the nearfuture. Alzheimer's knows no age limitations or cares about what you did for a
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living. It destroys you painfully slow or kills you in six months. We need help,
before it's too late. Thank you.

SOPHIE GROCHMAL

SUMMIT, NJ, October 19, 1985.
CORECTREISIREM MATTHEW J. RINALDO,
Union, NJ.

DEAR CONGRESSMAN RINALDO: Thank you for calling the above reference hearing
and so advising me. I will be unable to attend horinver would like to share my feel-
ings and suggestions as to how my husband and I .ieve been dealing with his broth-
er who has been diagnosed with Alzhehner's diswase. I am hopeful that some of my
comments might help others, and please feel free to utilize any at the hearing.

(a) Gain as much knowledge as possible germaine to this form of organic brain
disorder. This can be attained by joining a support or self-help group for families
and caregivers. In our State of New Jersey we are fortunate to have the New Jersey
Self-Help Clearinghouse which can provide Alzhehner's self-help group information
in just about every county. I have encloeed a folder regarding the clearinghouse.
Also many hospitals have ongoing professionally staffed support groups which can
be of great assistance as they can guide one in coping on a day-to-day basis.

(b) Explore the areas of day care programs for the Alzhehner person, if applicable
with your physican. Such structural programs provide stimulation for the victim
and respite for their caretakers.

(c) Avail yourself to counseling. This avenue is beneficial not only to the families
acceptance of this devestating disease, but will provide them with a better insight
and understanding leading to acceptance. Acceptance being a very difficult and per-
sonal area to discuss openly within a suppprt or self-help group of strangers until a
mutual confidence and bonding is formulated.

(d) Communication within the family as well as friends and neighbors of this ill-
ness is essential. Do not hide the patient away from companyencourage visitors
and conversation. If this positive attitude and mutual knowledge about the disease
is shared no further explanation should be necessary to relay why the Alzheimer
person does certain tasks either verbally or physical. Do not be ashamed or make
excuses.

(e) If you are the primary caretaker, plan time with a friend to care for your own
needs. Caring for an Alzhehner victim is much more than any 24 hour schedule for
th k. average person. A caretaker needs some time to get away and then return re-
freshed to take on another day. Many Alzheimer's groups have visitation teams and
this is so very important for the caregiver.

(f) Do not blame yourself for the illness that has befallen your loved one. If its
course is rapid try to maintain and provide the patient with the same dignity and
encouragement as existed prior to diagnosis. This is a very difficult task. Keeping a
networking of persons with whom you can reach to for help is essential for both the
caregiver and patient.

(g) The financial needs can in some cases be very overwhelming. Again seek pro-
fessional help especially with regard to long term nursing care.

In closing Congressman Rinaldo, I would like to personally thank you and your
congressional aide, Mr. Paul Schlegel, who responded to my inquiry regarding the
status of your Alzheimer bill outlined in your June 1985 bulletin. If I can provide
you with any assistance please feel free to contact me.

Very truly yours,
JACQUELINE M. SCHECHTER.

Enclosure.
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NEW JERSEY
SELF-HELP

CLEARINGHOUSE

MELPING PEOPLE HELP THEMSELVES
through the use & development of

MUTUAL AID SELF-HELP GROUPS
1-800.FOR.M.A.S.H.

(that's 1-800-367-6274)
From outside New Jersey

201-625-7101
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HAVE YOU EVER NOTICED
WHEN YOU HAVE A PROBLEM . . .

how it helps to talk with someone who
has had a similar problem? Simply finding
others who have "been there" and finally
realizing that "you are not alone" can
in itself be a great relief. Self-Help groups
do this and more. Members help one another
in various ways by providing support and
understanding as they share their experi-
ences, strengths, hopes, fears, skills,
practical information and encouragement.

WHERE THE FEELING IS MUTUAL

Self-Help groups can be better described
as Mutual Aid Self-Help or MASH groups,
because they derive their energy from
members helping one another, without
forms or fees. MASH groups are member-
run, but in some cases are developed or
assisted by professionals who remain "on
tap" rather than "on top". Groups are
voluntary, composed of peers, and typically
meet in churches, community centers
or members' homes, in an atmosphere
that is friendly, compassionate and accept-
ing.

OVER 3,200 GROUPS
MEET IN NEW JERSEY AND...

they help people cope with hundreds of
different stressful life situations and
transitions - from overcoming an addiction
or compulsion to coping with a serious
Hlness or disabHity; from dealing with
the loss of a loved one to learning new
parenting skiHs or caring for an elderly
parent. There are these and many more.
But as many of these groups operate in-
formally from "kitchen table offices",
they are often not easily located.
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T3 LOCATE A GROUP THAT
ADDRESSES YOUR NEED. . .

telephone the Clearinghouse toll-free
at 1-800-FOR-M.A.S.H. (Mutual Aid
Self-Help). or 1-800-367-6274 weekdays
9 am to 5 pm. From outside New Jersey,
dial (201) 625-7101. A quick computer
search will provide you with information
on groups in your area, or as needed,
it will extend the search to adjacent
counties, the entire state, or even to
out-of-state group contacts.

TO INCREASE YOUR AWARENESS
AND UNDERSTANDING OF GROUPS...

the Clearinghouse provides other services
which inlclude: consultation to existing
groups, workshops, speaking engagements,
research projects, work with the media,
periodic conferences, its NETWORK
newsletter, the SELF-HELP GROUP
DIRECTORY, and specialized service
programs such as those to develop groups
for visually impaired persons, as well
as those to promote related church-
based volunteer projects.

EXPLORING SELF-HELP GROUP
OPPORTUNITIES - SOME REMINDERS

While the Clearinghouse seeks to maintain
comprehensive listings, a few groups
may have escaped attention. Omission
of a group does not signify disapproval.
Nor does- provision of information on
a group constitute an endorsement. Mutual
help groups are not meant to replace
needed professional services, although
they often supplement and support them.
While initial research reflects the value
of such groups, the ultimate evaluation
and very survival of any self-help group
is determined by those who attend it.
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JOIN WITH OTHERS TO
START A GROUP

No appropriate self-help group in your
area? Please consider the possibility
of helping to start one - it is only after
one person has taken that first step to
express his/her interest in starting a
group, that a group can indeed be started.
You can call to register your interest.
The Clearinghouse would then network
or link any future callers, who share
your concern and interest, with you.

YOU CAN DO IT...

but you don't have to do it alone. In
addition to registering persons interested
in starting groups, the Clearinghouse
also can provide you with the most impor-
tant of its services - free consultation
on how you can go about starting a group.
This includes our providing you with
general guidelines, advice, ideas, helpful
contacts, and other resource information
that avoids your having to "reinvent
the wheelTM. We emphasize "modeling
mutual aid from the start" or involving
others in the process so that the responsi-
bility for starting and running the group
is shared and does not fall on any one
person's shoulders.

SELF-HELP GROUPS HELP...

and the Clearinghouse exists to help
you both find and form such groups more
easily. As the first statewide and com-
puterized operation of its type in the
country, the Clearinghouse has already
assisted many dedicated persons in the
development of several hundred new
MASH groups. throughout the state, some
of which were the first of their type
in the state and in the country.

55



63

THE MASH NETWORKING PROJECT

To meet the needs of an increasing portion
of the New Jersey population suffering
from a rare condition or illness, for which
no self-help group exists anywhere in
the country, the Clearinghouse has initiated
the MASH Networking Project to help
link persons natiOnally into new, first-of-
their-kind, mutual aid networks.
If someone is interested in starting a
mutual aid organization or network for
a particular problem for which no group
currently exists, the Clearinghouse will
consider listing that person in its national
database as a contact person; and will
make referrals to him or her, to help
start a mutual aid associati;:n via
correspondence, telephone and/or computer
networks.

Persons interested in forming such new
MASH networks should contact the Project
by calling (201) 625-7101 or writing the
Project (please include a stamped, self-
addressed envelope) at the address below.
The MASH Networking Project will also
link persons with any regional self-help
clearinghouse or existing model groups
that may be found in their area.

A NEW APPROACH TO HELPING
PEOPLE HELP THEMSELVES

The Clearinghouse is sponsored by Saint
Clare's Hospital and funded by various
government, foundation, corporate grants
and private contributions. We welcome
your support and assistance in helping
us promote the increased identification,
awareness, understanding and development
of Mutual Aid Self-Help resources.

NEW JERSEY SELF-HELP CLEARINGHOUSE
SAINT CLARE'S HOSPITAL

DENVILLE, NEW JERSEY 07834
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A Sampling of Just Some of the Issues & Groups
Addictions/Compulsions:

for alcoholics or their families
Narcotics Anonymous
Cocaine Anonymous
for compulsive gamblers
Overeaters Anonymous

Chronic/Physical Illnesses:
Arthritis Clubs
ADAPT (A Diabetic's A Person Too)
Alzheimer's Disease Support
Easy Breathers (respiratory)
Stroke Clubs
Multiple Sclerosis Self-Help
Mended Hearts (heart surgery)
various cancer groups
Chronic Pain Outreach
Make Today Count (life threatening iliness)

Disabillities/Impairments:
Eye Openers (visually impaired)
SHHH (Self-Help for Hard of Hearing)
In Step (amputation)
Phoenix Society (burn victim)
Speak Easy (for stutterers)

Loss of Loved OneBereavement
Compassionate Friends (death of a child)
MIDS (Miscarriage, infant Death, Stillbirth)
SOS (Survivors of Suicide)
various widowhood groups

Mental Health and related Support:
Anorexia/Bulimia Support
Emotions Anonymous
Recovery, Inc.
Agoraphobics Anonymous
VOICES (Victims of Incest Can Emerge Survivors)
Families of Mentally III

Parenting Concerns and Problems:
Resolve (Infertility)
Microtots (parents of prematures)
Cat arean Parents
ABC (After Baby Comes)
PEP (Parents Encouraging Parents of handicapped)
Mothers of Twin Clubs
CUB (Concerned United Birth parents)
Single Parent Society
Yours, Mine, Ours (Stepparents)
Toughiove
Families Anonymous (drug abuse)

Other Examples of Different Groups:
PREP (Persons Responsible for Elderly Persons)
Crime Victims
Cult Awareness Network
MADD (Mothers Against Drunk Drivers)
Men's Groups
Veterans' Groups
Job Seekers (Unemployment)"
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PREPARED STATEMENT OP THE INSTITUTE
ROE ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE AND REIATED

DISORDERS

I. INTRODUCTION

Due to the advocacy of families of victims of Alzheimer's disease and related dis-orders through the Ahheimer's Disease Study Commission, and the response of Gov-ernment representatives to their testimony; the Community Mental Health Centerof Rutgers Medical School, University of Medicine and Dentistry of New Jersey, hasbeen appropriated funds to establish an institute which will develop patient serv-ices, provide professional education and stimulate research initiatives. This institutewill be developed by COPSA (the Community Outreach Program for Senior Adults),a unit of the Community Mental Health Center of Rutgers Medical School whichhas been delivering comprehensive mental health services to the elderly for over 10years and is already well-known throughout New Jersey for its commitment andconcern for families and professionals dealing with Alzheimer's disease.

II. GOAI/3

The goals of the institute will be:
(1) to maintain at their highest level of functioning in the least restrictive envi-ronment those persons suffering from Alzheimer's disease and other dementias.(2) to reduce the impact of dementing illness on the families of victims througheducation, counseling, and linkage with community support.(8) to expand and improve the network of services for persons with dementia andtheir families in home, community and institutional settings.
(4) to extend the knowledge base about the diagnosis and management of dement-ing illnesses to a variety of health-related professionals through training and re-search.

III. SERVICES

Proposed services will be provided in three components: A resource center, a diag-nostic clinic, and a day program for cognitively imparied older adults. These compo-nents will function separately but will also be joined administratively and clinicallyinto a comprehensive system dedicated to patient/family services and professionaleducation.

(A) Resource center
The resource center will take primary responsibility for providing information,counseling, education and referral to families and allied health profeasionala. An800 telephone number will provide ease of access to families and professionala state-wide. Data about incidence and unmet needs will be collected, liaison will be estab-lished with service providers and family support groups throughout New Jersey,professional training programs will be developed, and educational materials will bemade available.

(B) Diagnostic clinic
CMHC-COPSA staff will develop the diagnostic clinic in collaboration with Rut-gers Medical School, Departments of Family Medicine, Neurology, and Psychiatry.It will provided: (1) comprehensive multidisciplinary evaluation to differentiate re-versible from irreversible dementias, (2) treatment recommendations, (8) followupplans, and (4) referral. Initial evaluation will be done by a family medicine physi-cian, a nurse, and a social worker, with additional evaluations provided by otherspecialties as indicated. In addition to providing clinical services, the diagnosticclinic will become a training site for medical and other professional students, in-terns and residents and will form the foundation upon which clinical and social re-search can be developed.

(C) Day progam for congnitioely imparied older adults
The day program will be a training site for hands-on professional education in ef-fective management techniques and program design for dementia patients in a vari-ety of institutional settings. It provides comprehensive evaluation, rehabilitationand- monitoring for dementia patients as well as education, support, and case man-agement for their families.
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IV. CONCLUSION

The priority of the Institute for Alzheimer's Disease and Related Disorders will be
to ensure excellent health and mental health services by competent professionals to
the families of Alzheimer's victims whose advocacy has created this opportunity.
The collaboration between various UMDNJ-RMS departments in developing the in-
stitute is an important step toward improved care for older persons. The multidisci-
plinary treatment and education model developed will provide leadership in meet.
ing the needs of an expanding aged population in New Jersey.

PREPARED STATEMENT OF VISITING NURSE AND HEALTH SERVICES, ELIZABETH, NJ

My name is Rebecca Marvin and I am director of planning and development at
the Visiting Nurse and Health Services which provides comprehensive home health
care and public health nursing to 17 towns in Union County, New Jersey. I am here
today representing Rosemary Cuccaro, executive director of VNHS. Mrs. Cuccaro
has appeared before this august committee several times and regrets she cannot hi
here todny.

I'm going to ask you each to use your imagination. Imagine that you are Jane
Smith. Jane is 58 years old and works as a division clerk at a local factory. Jane is
married to Jim, a 67-year-old retired blue collar worker. The Smith's have two chil-
dren; their son, now living in Texas and their daughter, who lives near Trenton.
Both childen are busy raising their own families and although they love and sup-
port their parents as much as they can, they cannot do much in the way of daily,
ongoing support.

Jim was 59 when he first began to experience the early symptoms of Alzheimer's
disease. However, he did mange to function well enough to work until he was 62
when he was forced into early retirement with redumd pension benefits. Jane has
managed well during the last 5 years, by leaving lists and making frequent checkup
phone calls while she was at work. Home and neighborhood remained a safe and
healthy place for Jim to be. Now, however, it is no longer safe for Jim to be home
alone for extended periods of time. Despite the systems Jane has instituted, he for-
gets to turn off the burners on the stove, he does not always dress appropriately for
the weather and when he goes out, he doesn't lock the house and he sometimes for-
gets his way home on once familiar streets.

Jane is faced with a dilemma. Will she be forced to quit her job, thus giving up
her pension (she has 2 more years until she is fully vested), and her health and
dental benefits which cover both her and Jimor will she be forced to put Jim into
a nursing home. Jane has long ago accepted the loss of any personal or social life
but to be confined to home every day with Jimeven her strong commitment to
and love for Jim could not replace the relief that working provides.

Then a friend suggested she call the Visiting Nurse. What is VNTIS providing for
Jane and Jim?

First, we sent a nurse and social worker to the home for a full health and socio-
economic assessment. In general, Jim's health is good, but Jane is experiencing fre-
quent bouts of colds and flu and every other "bug" that goes around. The stress of
caring for Jim is t-king its toll.

Financially the Smiths would be secure if it weren't for the demands made by
Jim's disease. Jane and Jim are above Medicaid and Medicare 'waiver guidelines,
but clearly are not wealthy. They are part of that infamous lower-middle income
class. Jim has Medicare benefits, but Jane's only health insurance is provided
through her employer. If she quits, she won't have any health insurance until she
reaches age 65that's 7 years away.

VNHS is currently providing a home health aide for 2 hours, 3 days a week, and a
neighbor looks in occasionally. Jim has been referred to an adult day care program
and he is on a waiting list. Day care centers can't take too many Alzheimer pa-
tients, they require too much one-on-one supervision and reimbursement rates don't
pay enough. Once a month, VNHS provides a respite companion, so that Jane can
attend evening activities at her church, her only social outlet.

Who is footing the bill for this care? Not Medicare. Medicare only pays for
"skilled care"Jim's care does not meet criteria. Not Medicaid. The Smiths do not
meet financial need criteria. Not Jane's insuranceit is designed for acute care epi-
sodes not chronic, deteriorating diseases.

Who then is paying? The Smiths pay as much as they can for the home health
aide and nursing visits according to sliding scale fee schedules. A grant from the
county pays for the respite care since the Smiths do meet title XX income criteria.
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Is this care enough? For the moment it is holding Jane and Jim together. But theday is coming when it won't be enough. Jim really needs to be in a supervised set-ting where he can be involved in therapeutic activities such as current events, dis-cussions and receiving socialization.
By spending down, Jim will qualify for nursing home placement in 2 years. But isa nursing home (if he can get a bed) really the right level of care for Jim? He doesnot need skilled physical care, he needs supervision, a companion, a "friend." Thedaily cost of a nursing home is approximately $76 per day. For much less than that.VNHS could provide care in an adult day care setting. We have designed a nursing-model program for cognitively impaired people but cannot secure funding. Again,Medicare will not pay for nonskilled services.
For about that same daily rate, we could provide 8 hours of homemaker servicesto Jim at home. Again, Mediciare will not paxand neither will Medicaid. Whatthen is the solution for Jane and Jim and thousands of others like them?In the first 6 months of 1985, VNHS provided care to 18 patiente formally desig-nated as having Alzheimer disease. One patient paid full fee for care provided; tworeceived care through title III funding; one has Medicaid; and three receive Medi-care.benefits for their care because, although Alzheimer's disease is the primary di-agnosis, they also have skilled nursing needs such as catherer care. P'erhaps weshould put catherere in everyonethen they can at least get some limited care. Pay-ment for care for the remaining 18 patients came from municipal funds and dona-tions to VNHS including United Way funds. But this money is not enough to meetneeds. It is not an unlimited supply,

Although 18 patients does not sound like many, for everyone who is receivingservices there are likely two more patiente and families who need care but are noteligible under existing funding sources. We never see these patients.The solution is choices and resources. Choices of programs and services that com-plement the care that most patient's families are giving and have made a committ-ment to. Choices of programs and services that enable the primary care givers tocontinue to give care services that permit the care giver to continue to work. Serv-ices that mean other family members will not be neglected and estranged from theprimary care giverservices that enable the primary care giver to maintain theirown physical and mental health. Choices of services and programs that enable thepatient to be where he or she wants to be and should be. Choices that include a fullspectrum of serviceshome care, respite care, day care, sheltered care, nursinghome care. All of those are already available in Union County. But the second halfof the solution, resources, have not been committed. The few resources that areavailable are scattered in different programs, channeled through different agenciesand governed by different criteria with lets Alzheimer's patients fall through thecracks.
For example, 2 weeks ago, one Alzheimer patient was deemed ineligible for Medic-aid because family income was to high. The patient was referred to the CCPED Pro-gram (Community Care Program for the Elderly and Disabled) but deemed ineligi-Me because individual income was too low (ergo should be eligible for Medicaid).A commitment of coordinated resources for choices means a spouse need not im-poverish his or her own older years to provide care now. It means a family can keepa loved one at home, paying what they can afford to help supplement home care ifthey so choose, usually at a much lower cost than institutional care. Choices andresourcesa humane solution.
Thank you for allowing us the opportunity of submitting this testimony and fortaking the time to read same.

PREPA.RED STATEMENT OF FREEHOLDER ADRIANNE DAVIE, EBB= COUNTY, NJ
Go.xi morning. I am Freeholder Adrienne Davis, and I reside at 36 HawthornePlace, Montclair, NJ.
I thank you for the oze:ratsuenity to come before you today to talk about a verypainful and devastating
As a family member and specifically the daughter of a victim of Alzheimer's Dis-ease, the most profound impact of this experience has been the fact that the familyand the loved ones participate in the suffering. In short, everyone is affected. Also,in the case of my family, which I know I. not unique, middle class people do nothave the means to meet the medical expenses of an Alzheimer'spatient. And while itwould be totally insensitive to view this condition as merely an economic issue, it ismy experience that, in many ways, it is the only part of the many dimensions ofsuffering which can be addressed.
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For example, my father, who was unofficially diagnosed five years ago at the age
of 62, had to be placed in a nursing home (and there was a lot of soul searching
before my family and I came to this decision). Because my father worked loyally all
his life like a good American, he received a pension and Social Security and there-
fore was not eligible for any financial assistance. What this translates into is the
fact that my sisters and brothers and I must pay the nursing home costs which, at
this point, amounts to $65 a day. My question: How long must we bear this burden
alone?

And now I'll wear my other hat, not as a family participant, but as a public re-
sponsibilityI believe strongly that we need new laws and new regulations to help
share the costs of this devastating disease. Indeed, I think it is in the public interest
that we begin to meet this responsibility. I also believe that, in bringing this issue to
the broader public, we will find more intereet in finding ways to alleviate and per-
haps cure this widespread problem. In other words, if we continue to keep the Alz-
heimer's problem merely the personal tradegy of families, we delay the day when
we can meet this challenge head on. Putting it another way, when people have to
pay the bill, they become more interested in the problem. Therefore, I believe it is
important that we get the greater public concerned, and I commend your efforts in
doing so.

And finally, on a personal note, I feel a deep commitment to participate with you
in working towards measures which would help the victims and the families of Alz-
heimer's disease. Thank you.
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